I<BE5@EEWE§H§’EI‘E’A§

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESRS MR 2 BRAT)

Stock Code & fnA 5% : 1888

ANNUAL REPORT

= 3



CONTENTS
=F

Corporate Information
RAEH

Financial Highlights
MREE

Chairman’s Statement

FEHRSE

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EEREREBABZER

Directors’ Report

ExgRs

Corporate Governance Report

TEERRSE

Independent Auditor’s Report

BB E

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEaR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

GEBERRHMEEKER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBRRE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BEERgHX

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BERERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

Information on the Group’s Properties

SEYXER

Financial Summary

BBE



02

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEFR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEHR

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS

Allen & Overy

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

23/F, Delta House

3 On Yiu Street

Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
3rd Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1110,
Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

EEHEERERABRLF

BREEER

g lEilURE T E S

AR SR

P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

RNSERETEEF MR

S

AR HBAM

LRI

fEiE KE231E

R ERCEARE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
3rd Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1110,
Cayman Islands

ROECEEETE

SEBSFELERAR
B
SERERE—E/N\T=5%
AFH LR g

—T-NEEH



04 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

FY2019 FY2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
BBFE HREE
HK$’ millionE & 7t HK$ million & &7 7T,
Revenue EEH 18,384.0 20,645.8 -11%
EBITDA" *Eg;ﬂi %gg* - 4,142.8 5,120.0 -19%
Profit before tax* R AR R 3,408.2 4,415.5 -23%
Net profit attributable to AARIEE AREGAR
owners of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E ARG R 2,493.3 3,190.1 -22%
— Reported net profit —BRmEARF 2,402.2 3,250.4 -26%
Earnings per share BREF
— Based on underlying net profit* — AR F G E HK80.9 centsi 1l HK103.5 cents)&1ll -22%
- Based on reported net profit —BREAFEE HK78.0 centsi& 1l HK105.5 centsi& il -26%
Interim dividend per share BRAPHRE HK10.0 centsEl HK17.5 centsi il -43%
Proposed final dividend per share EZERAHKE HK30.0 centsi&1ll HK35.0 cents;& -14%
Proposed special final EERERIFAIRERE HK40.0 centsiE il - N/A
dividend per share TiE A
Net asset value per share BREEFE HK$6.075& 7T HK$5.6875 7T +7%
Net gearing FEELE 0% 1%
*Excluding: REFE

FY2019: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$5.6 million and share-
based payments of HK$96.6 million.

TE-NF REVEATEED 2 RET AR TEET
EEGOEANRATRAEANTEET

FY2018: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$91.1 million and written
off of properties, plant and equipment of HK$30.8 million.

SEN\E RENEATERDZRRAT A8
BLRMENE  BREREEZER=TE
N+EET -
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue
B

HK$ Million
BEET
21,000 ¢
18,000 r
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12,000

9,000 f
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2003 2019

18,384

Underlying net profit attributable to owners of the Company*

KRB FEARGERLR

HK$ Million
BEEETT
4,000
3,500
3,000
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*Excluding non-recurring items.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”), | am pleased to
report to our shareholders that Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) achieved satisfactory results for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019. During the year, demand increased continuously
in some emerging sectors, such as those in relation to 5G communications.
However, this growth was not sufficient to offset the impacts that the Sino-
US trade friction had on the market. With the management’s astute market
intelligence, the Group’s laminates segment has been able to reinforce
penetration into existing customers through an active pricing strategy, while
on the other hand it seeks to enhance the market shares of advanced and
high value-adding products such as thin, high-frequency and high-speed and
halogen-free laminates, supporting us in our venture into new market areas.
With this two-pronged strategy, the Group was able to achieve remarkable
results and a strong rebound in the second half of 2019. As laminates sales
entered on a growth track, profitability of the segment has improved. By
virtue of an immaculate vertical supply chain and operational efficiency, the
laminates segment continued to maintain its status in the market as a global
leader.

Turnover breakdown by products & 3£ %85 #f

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

E 3 4EI]

AANERRESE  MARZLBRAM - 2
EREERERARARLEMBAR(EE])
RBE-Z-NAF+_A=+—HIHBFE
HISIEERE - —T—NF  GRMSHEE
FHSHLFHFEER  ERET2EEPEE
SHEBEHTISERNTE - REEEERER
HETISEE - — T E AR BRI
RRBEFPWMEZE  Z—TH2NRGEEE
R RARREREREERNKESME - &
MEERNNE  ARFOTSERE - E-F
—NETHFREEBERR - ZHRBRRS
[R3E - BNERHEEASFELTHEE - B
IKFEIRBE 2 $2 7 - BIERAPVBE T EME
BEHEBEXBNSMHONTH  BERSEIR
BAETISILL -

FY2019
—E-NEHBFE

FY2018
—E - \FHHFE

[ Glass Epoxy Laminates
RE KR A R IR E R

Paper Laminates

REEIR iRt

Upstream Materials

B Properties ] Investments [ Others

FHE BE HAt
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

The Group reported a 11% decrease in annual revenue to HK$18,384.0
million in 2019. Underlying net profit (excluding non-recurring items)
decreased by 22% to HK$2,493.3 million. In view of the Group’s sturdy and
healthy financial situation, the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK30.0
cents per share with a special final dividend of HK40.0 cents per share,
subject to Shareholders’ approval.

PERFORMANCE

In 2019, the Group had a monthly average output volume of laminates
totalling 10.6 million square metres, a 10% increase from 2018. However,
as product prices did not start to pick up until nearly the end of the year, the
average selling price of products was lower than that in 2018. Revenue of
the laminates segment reduced by 3% to HK$16,236.9 million. Earnings of
the segment before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”)
went down by 20% to HK$2,713.8 million.

The Group continued to execute its development strategy with a focus on the
laminates business. The property segment did not launch any new projects
during the period and was primarily engaged in the sales of remaining units
of completed projects. Segment revenue amounted to HK$1,711.3 million,
a decline of 53% compared with that of 2018, with EBITDA down by 40% to
HK$927.1 million.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

B

—E-NEF EEEFEXETIR11%
E-ANT=ZBNTOBEEETLT  EX
AN (TEEFLEHEEB) RL22%E
“HRAEAT=A=TE8ET - FERBIR
B2 EFEEEHIRE RIS SM30.021l
5 R KRB S R 40.08 4 - bR BEEE
FIRFORREB

EBRE

—E-AF REEAERSAFHEEER
T NAFEMI0%  E-TERTEFA
Ko EREBREZFEANAMIGETSRIT -
2FFHERER —T—/\F - BIEREM
EERENE3%  E-ANT_E=TR BT
BAT - #FIRHERAE - WA - EREH
Az FETF20%  ZE=++E—-—F=AN+
BET -
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st 7 2 P2 B8 PO S % 7 B R B 9 7R
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s integrated financial and liquidity conditions remained robust.
As at 31 December 2019, net current assets and current ratio were
approximately HK$9,386.0 million (31 December 2018: HK$9,555.4 million)
and 2.76 (31 December 2018: 2.59) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased to 88 days as at 31 December 2019
from 63 days as at 31 December 2018, on the following key metrics:

- Stock turnover days was 48 days (31 December 2018: 41 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtor turnover days, was 80 days (31 December 2018: 59
days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable to properties, plant
and equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of creditor turnover days, was 40 days (31 December 2018: 37
days).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group registered a net gearing of 0% (31
December 2018: net gearing of 11%). In 2019, the Group invested around
HK$690 million in acquiring new production facilities and around HK$270
million in its property business. Backed by a highly experienced professional
management team, a sound business foundation and solid financial
strength, the management is confident that these investments will deliver
stable and satisfactory returns to Shareholders over the long term. The
ratio of borrowings between short term and long term stood at 44%:56%
(31 December 2018: 18%:82%). The Group possesses sufficient financial
resources to meet its requirements for future market developments.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

With a robust financial position and to express the Group’s gratitude to the
support of the long-term Shareholders, the Board proposed a final dividend
of HKB0.0 cents and a special final dividend of HK40.0 cents. The Company
will maintain a proactive dividend policy with a view to sharing its idle capital
with Shareholders.

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. The
Group did not enter into any material types of derivative financial instrument
during the year. The Group had not entered into any arrangements to
hedge its foreign currency risk and the Company did not have any material
foreign exchange exposure during the year. The Group’s revenue, mostly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars, was fairly matched
with the currency requirements of its operating expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group maintained a workforce of approximately
9,600 (31 December 2018: 10,200). In addition to offering competitive
salary packages, the Group grants eligible employees share options and
discretionary bonuses based on the Group’s overall financial achievements
and individual employee performance.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to approximately HK$127,150,000 (2018: HK$320,824,000) as at
31 December 2019 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors,
the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach
of the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”). Based on the
advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date, the board is
of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be intrinsically
defective and that the Company should have a more than reasonable
chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been
made in connection with this claim.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®HE

PROSPECTS

Stepping into 2020, the Group’s laminates orders carry the momentum from
the latter part of 2019. The Group’s upstream plants were able to maintain
uninterrupted production during the Spring Festival. As the coronavirus
epidemic comes under control in mainland China, all factories have resumed
work and have gradually restored to full production capacity. Apart from
striving for work resumption, the Group also emphasises standing by its
corporate social responsibilities. To this end, the Group has donated supplies
to infection-stricken areas, and has enforced stringent preventive measures
within its factories in a successful attempt to avoid infection among its
employees.

The Group’s management maintains a prudently optimistic outlook for 2020.
Global upgrades in telecommunications technologies have popularised
cloud data centres, signal transceiver stations and intelligent application
terminals, in turn stimulating a continuous increase in demand for laminates.
At the same time, as the emergence of 5G telecommunication, autonomous
driving, telemedicine, big data artificial intelligence and high-quality audio-
visual entertainment requires low latency and highly reliable processing,
the performance of laminates will need to be upgraded. In the face of the
“quantitative” and “qualitative” paradigm shifts, the Group has planned ahead
in terms of product capacity and performance. With regard to the former,
the additional monthly capacity of 1,200 tonnes of copper foil in Lianzhou,
Guangdong Province, will become fully operational during the first half of
this year. Plans are also in the pipeline for Shaoguan in the same province to
engage in a total of three more phases of laminates projects, the first of which
will see a monthly output of 400,000 sheets of laminates within the first half
of 2020. On the product performance front, the Group’s state-level laminates
research and development laboratory in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, will
speed up in full force the upgrades of products such as thin, high-frequency
and high-speed, halogen-free laminates. In the meantime, the Group will
strive to enhance the quality of upstream materials. Efforts include raising
the precision parameters of glass yarn, increasing the glass fabric splitting
ratio, and developing high-frequency functionalities of its copper foil. The
Group is looking to devote more research and development efforts into the
setting up of smart factories, so as to drive capability advancement through
technologies. With the deployment of smart factory technologies, the Group
seeks to reduce costs while enhancing efficiency, paving a new way towards
sustainable growth in the long run.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, banks, the management
and employees for their unreserved support to the Group in the past financial
year.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEAEZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 56, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Holdings Limited
(“KHL”) in 1988 and has over 31 years experience in the marketing of a
wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 67, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 1991
and has over 28 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 59, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in
1988 and has over 31 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
paper laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive director of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
whose shares were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”) and had been delisted from SGX on 10 June 2019. Mr.
Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 63, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KHL and has over 31 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 36, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 51, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in
1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities in
Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongaging University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive

Director in November 2006.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 46, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KHL’s
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, and a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Leung graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1969. He is a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has broad experience
in accounting and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession
for over 30 years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr. Leung retired
from PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung was the President of Lions
Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995
to 1997. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is also
an independent non-executive director of the companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
namely Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited and G-Vision International
(Holdings) Limited. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of KHL on 1 October 2016.

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DI RECTO RS (continued)

Mr. Ip is currently serving as an independent non-executive director of five
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since December
2009, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) since
October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018 and Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June 2018.
Mr. Ip also served as an independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, such
as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for
Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Social Sciences in September 1973, and he subsequently completed
the program for management development at Harvard University Graduate
School of Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2001 and he was appointed as
an unofficial Justice of the Peace in July 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the nomination
committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government since
1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch in Hong Kong (Liaison
Office of the Central People’s Government in Hong Kong). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and
charitable organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity
such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant,
chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

BYFHITEEw

HEEERARREB AT ER_ ETA KB IE
WITEE  PREERRERERARRMR
%131 (BZZTEENFN\AR) B #ERE
BREAB (MY - 488) (B —EENF+=
Aie)  NEEE(BER)ARAR RO REE
500)(BE=F——F+ Ai#) « BmIEERARA
AI(IEHREE - 1982) (EZTE—NFHEAR) &
SWERBR AR (RO : 2892)(B=F
—N\FRAR) BAZTEZENFNLAE_T—+
F+ZR - ERENBIFEERERAR (D
REE - 2340) VB IFTTEE - BB —NE=
F+—AE_TTLFLAH  BELLELCREE
BRTHEBRFHIZ AR BEREEE
BHEE BTIREEER KERRRMMKLES
RREUREEEREETIREE

RAER-NE=ZFNAEEREERE &
HEMBETEM  HERR -/ USF+—
REMBRABIMEERNRAMTHERERER

12 o

SR B R E BRI (TR E T
RERFEE  WA-TTLFLAREEA
FEFATML o

REBRELE 635 W_T—AF—AEZ
ERBIUIFNTES - RELENMAARFIRS
ZEg BERXZEGLFHZESKE - ®B
—NNEFE - FREFREFZEEM - 2
BHELBTBO (B ER - —TTTF
% RAEELBUEZBARBTARBBES
BREMARNEERE  EXENERER
K& PEEHER  E2a(BANEB)WE
& ITREER -



15

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERSREBAECER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DI RECTO RS (continued)

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving as
the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013
and the executive director of Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association
since 2015 as well as the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas
Friendship Association since 2017. Mr. Zhang holds a Master’s degree in
Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and is a research associate
thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the Hong Kong Academy of
Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services Institute as a professor
on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since April 2015 and CT
Environmental Group Limited since January 2018, both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung, Kaizer, aged 68, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Lau is also the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a chartered
surveyor and has substantial experience and involvements in construction,
real estate and infrastructure projects both in Hong Kong and mainland
China. Currently, Mr. Lau is the managing director of Biel Asset Management
Co., Ltd and an independent non-executive director of SEM Holdings
Limited. He is one of the Founders of Hong Kong Coalition of Professional
Services and has been the Chairman since June 2012. Mr. Lau is also a
member of the Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee, the Council of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and the Vice-Chairman of the Vetting
Committee of the Professional Services Advancement Support Scheme.
He is also a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors. Mr. Lau is a former president of The Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors, a former chairman of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(HK Branch), and a former member of the HKSAR Legislative Council. He is
also a former nonexecutive director of the Urban Renewal Authority, a former
member of the Council of the City University of Hong Kong, a former member
of the defunct Economic Development Commission, a former member of
the Lantau Development Advisory Committee, and the Long Term Housing
Strategy Steering Committee and a former member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Shanghai. Mr. Lau holds a Higher
Diploma in Quantity Surveying from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and a Master’s degree in Construction
Project Management from The University of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 52, joined KHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr.
Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Textiles. Prior to joining KHL, he had over 14 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. LAM Ting Hin, aged 32, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
October 2015. Mr. Lam is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the
company secretarial work and financial management of the Group. He has
over 9 years of work experience primarily on accounting, auditing, finance
and financial reporting, including working at professional advisory firms.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSl N ESS REV' EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.

There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUSl N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three months from
the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board of Directors (“Board”) also monitors the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations on a regular basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long-term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the

Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 69.

An interim dividend of HK10.0 cents per share was paid to the Shareholders
during the year. The Directors now recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK30.0 cents per share and a special final dividend of HK40.0
cents per share to the Shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on 2 June 2020 and the retention of the remaining profit in the
Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, the Group has, by way of a voluntary unconditional cash
offer via Excel First Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, purchased 75,838,928 ordinary shares of Kingboard Copper Foil
Holdings Limited with an aggregate sum of HK$259,824,000. Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited was listed on the Main Board of Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and the purchase of
the relevant shares was conducted on the SGX-ST. Following the above
mentioned purchase, Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited was delisted
from the Official List of SGX-SX on 10 June 2019.

Please refer to the joint announcements of the Company and Kingboard

Holdings Limited (“KHL”") dated 4 and 18 April 2019, 2, 5, 13, 16 and 21 May
2019 and 4 and 6 June 2019 for full details.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES (continued)

Other than the above, during the year, there was no purchase, sale or
redemption by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed
securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 73 to 75.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium
and special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2019, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$7,627,080,000 (2018: HK$8,345,097,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2019,
resulting in an increase in fair value of HK$5,600,000 (2018: HK$91,056,000)
which has been credited directly to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has in aggregate
approximately HK$4,739.3 million investments in debt and equity instruments,
representing approximately 18% of the total asset of the Group as at 31
December 2019, which consist of mostly securities listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and bonds issued by companies also listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company acquired its investments
through market purchase. The Group will from time to time monitor the price
movement of prices in securities and bonds and may adjust its investment
portfolio as and when appropriate.
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INVESTMENTS (continued) ?ﬁﬁ(%)

Breakdown of the Group’s Significant Investments REBEERERHA
The following table sets out the breakdown of significant investments held by TREBEAEER -_Z—NF+_A=+—H
the Group as at 31 December 2019: BHEZRERM

Fair value
asat % to the Bond
Number of %of  Investment 31 December Group's interest for
bondsheld  bonds held cost 2019 total assets the year

Unrealised
Gain/(loss) gain/

Name of investments on disposal (loss)

Bonds fisted on Singapore Exchange Securties Trading
Limited ("SGX') by Country Garden Holdings Company
Limited (HK stock code: 2007)

() fixed coupon interest 7.125% per annum and

BERERERAARBRA L

RIORSE - 2007 NEIRESR AR

BRAR(HRAM) L2 RS
) BEESTI%EZEFZS

Bh2

it G

000
&

bEoPa L
Balt

RERA
HK§000
TR

R-B-hE
t=A
=t-AK
AR
HK$'000
Fn

2]
BEERAL

ER{ESAE
HK$ 000
TR

gk
(BR)
HK§000
TR

RERME/
(E#)
HK§000
TR

maturity date in January 2022 H#AA-S-—F-F 130,000 30.6% 1,011,025 1,093,492 4.2% 81,235 13,890 82,467
(i) fixed coupon interest 8.000% per annum and ) EEFE8000EZERRE

maturity date in January 2024 H#BAA-Z-mE-R 66,000 6.6% 512,673 573,955 2.2% 80,815 60,210 61,282

Bonds listed on SGX by Guangzhou R&F Properies Co., BN EHERGERAR HBRM LT -

Lid. (HK stock code: 2777): TRIARE : o7 RITR T L2 5 -
) fixed coupon rate of 5.875% per annum and ) BEESS8TSEZERZS

maturity date in February 2023 TR-Z-=F-RYH 100,000 16.7% 780,000 756,959 2.9% 45,825 - (23,041)
(i) fixedl coupon rate of 5.75% per amumand maturty (i) EEEE5T5EZERZS

date in January 2022 PR-B--E-A5H 19,000 12% 148,200 150,715 0.6% 11,166 (1,357) 2515
(i) fixeol coupon rate of 7% per annum and maturity i) AEFSTEZERES

date in Apri 2021 TR-F-—EWAFE 20,000 3.3% 156,000 159,063 0.6% 10,920 - 3,063
(i) fixed coupon rate of 8.875% per annum and () BEES88T5EZERZE

maturity date in September 2021 ;e Sty W - 80,000 40% 624,000 672,565 26% 63,801 7079 48,565

Bond listed on Stock Exchange by KWG Group Holdings ~~ ASZE£EZRERAA
Limited (HK stock cod: 1819) (BB L - RIDRSE - 1813)
RERA T2 5

) fixed coupon rate of 9.85% per amumand maturty () EEESISEEFZS

date in November 2020 TR-EBET-A3H 96,000 175% 748,800 791,630 31% 75,281 1,938 42,830

3,980,698 4,198,379 16.2% 369,049 81,760 217,681
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I NVESTM E NTS (continued)

Save as the investments set out in the table above, the Group did not hold
any other significant investments during the year ended 31 December 2019.

All of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007) (“CGH?”),
Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) and KWG
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1813) (‘KWG”) are principally engaged
in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of CGH dated 20 September 2018 and 2
October 2018: (i) the senior notes (“CGH January 2022 Senior Notes”) were
issued by CGH in September 2018, and due in January 2022. The CGH
January 2022 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of
7.125% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds
from the CGH January 2022 Senior Notes were intended to be used mainly
for refinancing CGH'’s existing offshore indebtedness; and (i) the senior notes
(“CGH January 2024 Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September 2018,
and due in January 2024. The CGH January 2024 Senior Notes are listed on
the SGX and carries an interest of 8% per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH January 2024 Senior Notes
were intended to be used mainly for refinancing CGH’s existing offshore
indebtedness.

According to the announcement of annual results for the year ended 31
December 2019 of CGH, as at 31 December 2019, its group’s net gearing
ratio was 46.3%, representing a year on year decrease of 3.3 percentage
points.
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I NVESTM E NTS (continued)

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 13 November 2017, 12
January 2017, 18 April 2018 and 19 September 2018: (i) the senior notes
(“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in November
2017, and due in February 2023. The GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes
are listed on the SGX and carry an interest of 5.875% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP February
2023 Senior Notes were intended to be used to refinance debt and for
general corporate purposes of GRFP; (ii) the senior notes (“GRFP January
2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in January 2017, and due in
January 2022. The GRFP January 2022 Senior Notes are listed on SGX
and carry an interest of 5.75% per annum and interests are payable semi-
annually. The proceeds from the GRFP January 2022 Senior Notes were
intended to finance GRFP’s overseas project under China’s “One Belt One
Road” strategy and for general corporate purpose; (i) the senior notes due
April 2021 (“GRFP April 2021 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in April
2018, and due in April 2021. The GRFP April 2021 Senior Notes listed on
the SGX and carry an interest of 7% per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The proceeds from the GRFP April 2021 Senior Notes were
intended to refinance debt and for general corporate purposes; and (iv) the
senior notes due September 2021 (“GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes”)
were issued by GRFP in September 2018, and due in September 2021. The
GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes is listed on the SGX and carries an
interest of 8.875% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The
net proceeds from the GRFP September 2021 Senior Notes was mainly for
offshore refinancing.

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2019 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP increased
10 199% at 31 December 2019 from 184% at 31 December 2018.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

Based on the announcement of KWG dated 15 November 2018, the senior
notes (“KWG November 2020 Senior Notes”) were issued by KWG in
November 2018, and due in November 2020. The KWG November 2020
Senior Notes are listed on the Stock Exchange and carry an interest of 9.85%
per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the
KWG November 2020 Senior Notes were intended to be used for refinancing
certain of KWG'’s offshore debt.

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2019 of KWG, as at 31 December 2019, its group’s net gearing
ratio increased from approximately 66% that as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately 75%.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Significant

Investments

By leveraging our experience in sales and rental properties, our major
investments in available-for-sale investments/equity and debt instruments
have focused mainly on the debt instruments of issuers engaging in the
properties sector. Our investment objective is to generate stable additional
interest income for the Group.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Expenditure of HK$693,317,000 was incurred during the year primarily to
expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in
properties, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

RE =

BEARFEENA—2—\F+—A+EA
WAL ARFER-E—NF+—ABITN
BEEBR(ARFEE 225+ AE4E
BDER-T-TF+— A5 - ARFE=
ToTFE+— AEERHRE A LD - FF
RROBEE W BEERE—K - AREE_F
—TF+— AEAEEMGRERARA 2R
EHOBEEHERE -

BEAEREHE_T—hLhF+_A=1+—8H
LHFENFEEERNE R-_T—NF+=A
=+—H ZEEFEERERA-_T—N\F
+=ZA=1+—B4%66% EHZEHT75% -

ER LA RREBRUBRRNE—TER
F2HLEXERMLHRERASE - BEMARA
RIS RRBANEHRER - FRK2H AR
BN LMABTY - LilHmERAEHS
BRAFEHN—ED - FIERARBHEE
MERHHOTIMRRHROBR - ZRRERE -

FEERZEERRENRERE

BRERMIHE ROEYENER  RANEE
AHHERE R kEBTAREETESH
RIEEFHMEENBTARTZEB LA - &
R E B R 2 A ARNEBELRE RBEINOH
B

M - BEKR&E

FRATEARSAEEBEEI MEARS
693,317,000/87C - FRATAEME - BEK&E
FEFBEH N R A RERMTES

B NEER



26

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 are
set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Mr. Liu Min (Resigned on 18 November 2019)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, being executive Directors, and Leung
Tai Chiu and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire from directorship by rotation and will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 12 to 16.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES EEZRDERE

As at 31 December 2019, the interests of the Directors (including the RZZE—AF+-A=1+—H8  EF(8FEELRQ
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares, AINE RSB ) MBEEZHEARARRIRE
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated B EE(EERBEALBEEMNN([EA KRS
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures &40 ) EEXVER) Z %D ~ MR EEHT - %
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company EARRDNBIRIEZE SRS EIEIIGEEFEE &
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company AT sk 2 A - HIRIBE ET BT AER#
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities IBEZTHNEETIE MR T REEZ AT

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows: 2RI

Long position RE

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”) (a) AATEREE10B T 2ZER ([
#1)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital

issued shares of the Company

held HAEAT

Name of Director Capacity e 31T BRITRA

BB EEME BRHBEE ZHH B

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 6,904,000 0.2241%

SREUEE S EnEA AN TR

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 2,000 0.0001%
RRFRE BEmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 97,000 0.0031%
SR B 58 S A EmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 1,000,000 0.0325%
SREI TS A BEmBEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 1,303,000 0.0423%
MRE % BEmBEAA

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 10,000 0.0003%
RBREE BEmBEAA

Note: Bt eE
1 75,000 shares were held by his spouse. 1 75,0008 i {5 L BB 5 o
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (contnvesy EEZBROER @

Long position (continued) RE®)
(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options”) (b) ARAABELEBRE(TELERE]D
Interest in underlying shares
Name of Director Capacity pursuant to Share Options
o EatE BRIEETERENERRD N ERS
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 6,000,000
SREIEE S Xt =N
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 6,000,000
SR BSR4 EmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 5,000,000
SREIF S BEniBEA
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 5,000,000
MRE % Emfia A
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 2,000,000
RRFEFE BEmEEA
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu Beneficial owner 550,000
RREHBEE E=EAA
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Beneficial owner 550,000
=Sl 1pech vt EmfiaA
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 550,000
RBREE BEnEEA
Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer Beneficial owner 550,000
BIME BEnEBA
Further details of the Share Options and the Directors’ interests in EBELERERESHE R
them are available in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and BIEHE - BANIRS [ B RERRAE | —
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this Report. P A BA TS 4R SR S M 534 o
(c) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard (© AATREREIHWELATEEEER
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ERATEREBIETERERET
R4
Number of non-voting
Name of Director Capacity deferred shares held
EEnE ERME PR ERERELERGEE
(Note)
(Fff=E)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 1,058,000
SREIZEST A EmEEA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 529,000
SR B8 5 A BEnEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 952,200
SREIF S A EmEB A
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 581,900
MRELE BEnAEA
Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is et AEEMERFRERERERARZ
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice IS ERRIERRD o SR FRTER D IR
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates B A5 AT U B TR FE AR A PR A R AR
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any RAGBERHEREAST KRS LK
distribution on winding up. Z 2R - IR A RERAR BN E R

BRERDIRZ ERET -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (contnvesy EEZBROER @

Long position (continued) RE®
(d  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Holdings (d FARNBRKERACDEEEEEBRLT
Limited (“KHL”), the ultimate holding company of the Company (MBEEE])EREEI0ETZEE

B

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of issued share
issued ordinary capital of KHL
shares held HEHEEE
Name of Director Capacity e 21T EBTRA
EEpE RS ZTERROHE ZEBHNBEDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 18,540,320 1.6767%
SR EUEE S A EnlEAATEER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping? Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 5,736,383 0.5188%
SR BT 5 2 EnlEAATEER
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.2261%
MRERE BEnEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 4,723,422 0.4272%
SRE8 S A BEREAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 384,000 0.0347%
RRFRE BEREAA
Notes: faE -
1 74,400 KHL's shares were held by his spouse. ! 74,4000% E SR B () R A RCB#EA o
2 36,000 KHL’s shares were held by his spouse. 2 36,000/% i E & B () B A BHA -

(e)  Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in the share capital of Elec () AATEZEMBARKINREEBER

& Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC?”), a fellow AR(TEEIC]) RAFHEER(TEEIC
subsidiary of the Company 1)
Approximate
percentage of the
Number of issued share
issued EEIC capital of EEIC
Shares held {HEEIC
Name of Director Capacity s 21T ERTRA
EEnE ERME EEICER {7 8B 2N B
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 706,200 0.3778%
SREIEE S BEmEa A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 520,000 0.2782%
SREF S Emfa A
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 486,600 0.2603%
MERERLE BnEAA

' —T-NEEH
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2019.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of 31 December 2019 in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2019, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following Shareholders had notified
the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERR @

Long position EE

Approximate
percentage of the
issued share capital

Number of of the Company

issued shares held N

Name of shareholder Nature of interest e 31T ERITRAZ

RRERB FERtE ROEE BRABE D

Hallgain Management Limited (@), () Interest of controlled 2,141,028,000 (L) 69.49%
(“Hallgain”) corporations

SEHEEER

KHL (©) Beneficial owner 78,945,000 (L) 2.56%
BEER E=AA
Interest of controlled 2,062,0883,000 (L) 66.93%
corporations

SRS

Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) (e)} Beneficial owner 1,785,000,000 (L) 57.94%
E=AA
Interest of controlled 277,083,000 (L) 8.99%
corporation

SR EEES

Capital Research and Management Investment manager 177,205,851 (L) 5.75%
Company WERIR

L The letter “L” denotes a long position. L [LIFRERE -

Notes: PeE

(@ At 31 December 2019, () no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or (@ RZZ—-NAF+ZA=+—8 " ()ifEHallgain
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power R AR Hallgainlt A ST 5k B # sk b
at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors are not accustomed EHIFTE =9 — sk A Lz RORME - MHallgain &
to acting in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung HEZUWMEBBRBEMBREIERTE  R()E
Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also FREFESE  RETEERMRELENR
Directors of Hallgain. Hallgainz &% °

(o) The interests are held by KHL directly and indirectly. KHL is owned as to (o) BEREEEEREEREZEER - RZT—AN
approximately 39.02% by Hallgain as at 31 December 2019. F+=-A=+—H  Hallgainf B B EE @Y

39.02%# %3 °

(© The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned () JamplanE# K EEFAZ SR © Jamplang
subsidiary of KHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a director of Jamplan. BEREEZZEREMBAR - EEMNRELE
M AJamplanz 5 -
() The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary, ©) JamplanZBE S ERBHEAREEREAR
Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung AE([ERE DAESEZ SR - EFRE
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL. FEEERKRBETFRENMAREREZES -

' —T-NEEH
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principals of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, save for the deviation
that the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors are
not appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the Code. For
further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during the
year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KHL Group, being
subsidiaries of KHL other than the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “KHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable
to the KHL Group was 12%. The Group’s second largest customer was
Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and the percentage of
sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was 3%. The percentage of sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers combined was less than
30% of the Group’s total revenue. During the year, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers combined were 5% and 16%, respectively. The percentage of
purchases attributable to KHL, one of the Group’s five largest supplier was
5%.

As at 31 December 2019, KHL, a Shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling Shareholder of KHL, had
beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none
of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

P T IIN
TEER

EERR BFEATEEREIFATES
W FEARIE E TR AT 81 4P (B IEST
AN(T=FRID BA 4GB EEREEZ
REEBER 2N RRARBE—ZT-NF+ A
=t REFEAESRBMREFEEERFRRR
—EETTAZEATAERT - BRAEESF
AWEEERTRNEZFHE  F2HAFER
N2 EEERRE -

TERFRHEER

FRN - ARERARFAREEB 2B AR
(TEEARQRISEMBAR) (RBIEEE
H]) 2EEEMEEERAED L R12% -
AEBEE - KEF BHallgain R K& A 7
([Hallgainfe@ |) - HallgainE B EEE
DL A% - REBEEERARNTS ZBIHERE
BAOLLDRAEBMBEETEZ30% - FA - A
EERsEAEERRAAEEEZEBEEA S
LD B A5% 2 16% - REEREEE®E (R
HERZ —)ZBEEE DL A% -

MR-ZE-AF+-A=+—0 @EEEE—
BEFBARREIAE% A EZ K - MHallgain
BEBEBEIEE - EEEE kHallgaintgRn
AEERAARFPRAAEEFERZ —HEE
miEss c BAFMAEEEIN B FE2
HBARIBESIAEE AR R RIRAE%IA L2
ERRERERN LR FBRF S EERPEE
RS -



33

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2019, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@) KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain SFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates to the
Hallgain Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the amount of copper and laminates to be
supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the
parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price
(with reference to the prevailing market price) of the products under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA for the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
Hallgain SFA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) Eg?@fé% (88)

(@) KLHL/Hallgain SFA (continued) (@) EHEBEEMR HallgainfiEIELL
= 1E))

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/Hallgain SFA by the end
of 2019, on 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered
into a supply framework agreement (the “New KLHL/Hallgain SFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates
to the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the
amount of copper and laminates to be supplied is not fixed but is to
be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of the products under the New KLHL/Hallgain
SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed by the Hallgain
Group with the Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years
ending 31 December 2022 are HK$568,000,000, HK$625,000,000
and HK$687,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
joint announcement dated 25 October 2019 for further information.

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain PFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to purchase materials for production of
laminates such as drill bits and machineries from the Hallgain Group
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA, the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain
Group.
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CON N ECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain PFA (continued)

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial Shareholder,
and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA for the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/Hallgain PFA by the end
of 2019, on 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered
into a purchase framework agreement (the “New KLHL/Hallgain
PFA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase materials
for production of laminates such as drill bits and machineries from
the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA, the
amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the products under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be subject to
the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2022 are HK$345,000,000, HK$362,000,000 and HK$380,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 25 October 2019 for further information.
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(©)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KLHL/KHL MPA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KHL entered into a materials
purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/KHL MPA”) pursuant to
which the Group agreed to purchase chemicals including methanol,
formalin, phenol, acetone, phenol resin and caustic soda (“Chemicals”)
from the KHL Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.
Under the KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of Chemicals to be purchased
by the Group is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between
the parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and
the price (with reference to prevailing market price) of the Chemicals
under the KLHL/KHL MPA will be subject to the individual orders
placed by Group with the KHL Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MPA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MAP for the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
KHL MPA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.
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CON N ECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(©)

(d)

KLHL/KHL MPA (continued)

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/KHL MPA by the end of
2019, on 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into
a materials purchase framework agreement (the “New KLHL/KHL
MPA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase Chemicals
from the KHL Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of
Chemicals to be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and the price (with reference to prevailing
market price) of the Chemicals under the New KLHL/KHL MPA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by Group with the KHL Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2022 are HK$800,000,000, HK$880,000,000 and HK$968,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 25 October 2019 for further information.

KLHL/KHL SSFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement (the “KLHL/KHL SSFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and related upstream
materials and to provide drilling services to the KHL Group from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/KHL SSFA, the
amount of laminates and related upstream materials to be sold and
the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed but are
to be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream materials
and the drilling services to be provided under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KHL Group with
the Group.
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(d) KLHL/KHL SSFA (continued) d BEEER B2EEEHERR

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and that KHL and
members of the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules. The annual cap and the actual
transaction amount of the transactions contemplated under the
KLHL/KHL SSFA for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the table below. Details of the KLHL/KHL SSFA were disclosed in the
circular of the Company dated 21 November 2016.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/KHL SSFA by the end of
2019, on 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into
a supply and service framework agreement (the “New KLHL/KHL
SSFA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and
related upstream component materials and to provide drilling services
to the KHL Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2022. Under the New KLHL/KHL SSFA, the amount
of laminates and related upstream component materials to be sold
and the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed
but are to be determined and agreed between the parties from time
to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference
to the prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream
component materials and the drilling services to be provided under
the New KLHL/KHL SSFA will be subject to the individual orders
placed by the KHL Group with the Group. The proposed annual cap
for the three years ending 31 December 2022 are HK$2,753,000,000
HK$2,945,000,000 and HK$3,151,000,000, respectively. Please
refer to the Company’s joint announcement dated 25 October 2019
and the circular of the Company dated 21 November 2019 for further
information.
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CON N ECTED TRAN SACTIONS (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions were entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

The Company considers that Hallgain and KHL are reliable business co-
operation partners and such co-operations are beneficial to the business of
the Company and the Group as a whole. The Company considers that the
above continuing connected transactions facilitate its business plan and will
improve the competitiveness and the quality of the laminates manufactured
by the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2019 disclosed by the Group
on pages 33 to 40 of the annual report in accordance with Listing Rule
14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set

out in the table below.

The Group sold laminates and related upstream
materials and provided drilling services to the
KHL Group under the KLHL/KHL SSFA

The Group purchased chemicals from
the KHL Group under the KLHL/KHL MPA

The Group sold laminates and copper to
the Hallgain Group under
the KLHL/Hallgain SFA

The Group purchased drill bits and machineries
from the Hallgain Group under

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2019.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee after consultation with the Chairman having regard to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business of
the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2019 were within the following bands:

EEHEERERABRLF

A BR

YFZESREBEAKERE 2R - BEERT
YERE I HITE B T 2 SR o

FMEZESREREIER  REMEEZL
B BEMAAREERBMRBRZBRZHEE
EZHM -

ARBDRMEBLEBEENS - FREESER
REREE 2 KE - BABREAIFHBER
A MRS -

BE-T-hET-A=+—BILEE  HH
TEREERE(TREES) ZHHN FUATE
:

Number of senior

management

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 or above

£%1,000,000/8 7T

EREEREAY

1,000,001 7T 22,000,000 7T -
2,000,001 T3 A

Total: Azt

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The new share option scheme of the Company (the “2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 29 May
2017 and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval from
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The
2007 Share Option Scheme expired at its end of the term of the scheme
on 5 July 2017 prior to the 2017 KLHL Scheme becoming effective. The
purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme was to provide incentive or reward to the
eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

BrEkETE

ARRIMFETEEETE ([ —F—tFH
BER;SDER=_Z—+FRA=-+LBE
BRIEZEEERRALE I - T F2H
BERGTENESBIA ETRESHAERR
ZEHFT-AZHER  ZZETHFEE
Bt cE T FEEEE R AL
AT R-FE—EFL AR B (AR FHR
RiE—B)ER - —T -+ FREEEREN
R B MEN SRR —F — CFREEE
REFBNEERZEEHRSAEENNEMN
BERRBES N -

“E-NEFFR



42

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

SHARE OPT'ON SCHEME (continued)

No share option was exercised, cancelled or had lapsed under the
Company'’s share option schemes during the year under review. The following
table discloses movements in the Share Options under the Scheme during
the year:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

B RBEREFTE

CEFEANARR 2BEBRE SR T AL E
1T - FESHEB RSB B R - T
REBZTEA TEABRENERAZES

Outstanding as Outstanding as
at 1 January at 31 December
2019 2019
R-E-N%F Granted Exercised R-EB—NE
—HA—H duringtheyear duringtheyear +=A=+—H
tef RAT RERRE RERTTRE I8 RAT I

Category 1: Directors 18 EF
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REELE(TE) - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) 3R Bl 5t 1 (& F 48477 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping REFEE - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
Mr. Lam Ka Po MEEFE - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RERELE - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Mr. Leung Tai Chiu REEBFA - 550,000 - 550,000
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen HEEE - 550,000 - 550,000
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu RBREE - 550,000 - 550,000
Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer AMELE - 550,000 - 550,000
- 26,200,000 - 26,200,000
Category 2: Employees E0%8 BB - 12,800,000 - 12,800,000
Total for all categories FIBERIG - 39,000,000 - 39,000,000
(Note 1)
(Fii5E1)

Note 1: The exercise price per share in relation to all of the above Share Options granted MisEt © FAREBF SRS D rEELBRENTR

under the Scheme during the year is HK$8.39. The exercisable period in relation all
of the above Share Options granted under the Scheme during the year is from 3 April
2019 to 2 April 2029.

Other than the above, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled
or had lapsed under the Company’s share option schemes during the year
under review. For further details of Share Options, please refer to Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements of this report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company had maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

23 March 2020
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, save for the deviation from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code since the non-executive Director and the
independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term.
Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, all the Directors (including the non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors) are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general
meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. As such,
the Company considers that steps have been taken with a view to ensuring
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are in line with the
principles of the Code.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.
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A.

DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.

During the year under review, the Board had held 4 meetings and
the Company held two general meetings. The Directors’ attendance
at the Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and general
meetings was as follows:

Board

Meeting

Exg

=f ]

Number of Meeting BEHE 4

Executive Directors HTES

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) 4

Cheung Kwok Keung oREl 4
(Managing Director) (EZH40HE)

Cheung Kwok Ping RELT 4

Lam Ka Po MHRE 4

Cheung Ka Ho KRR 4

Zhou Pei Feng [EiEE 4

Liu Min (resigned on AFR=E-—NF 4

18 November 2019) T—AT/\BEHE)
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Lo Ka Leong &F% 4
Independent non-executive Directors BV #77£%
Leung Tai Chiu Rt 4
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Eaw 4
Zhang Lu Fu REX 4
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer mzE 4
Note:
1 “General Meeting” includes annual general meeting and extraordinary

general meeting

A.

Audit
Committee

Meeting
EREER
g3

W W W w
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EEFECFHIEZEMNGH B
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e RERERHELEBITAAR
B ZRTE - AARZEHEZAR)
BE MEFFER LEMRERIR
EFHEBBANEARZ  AHES
VEMRRE - BB AGSHREEA
o BEEERCHIREREERK
REBETESFEERRGERBAEX
TERES  HHFREER Mtz
A YRARMWEFE -

REBFEN  EFRT 7O
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A BRI
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A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

° preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 11 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Zhou Pei Feng

Liu Min (resigned on 18 November 2019)

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors
Leung Tai Chiu

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that although such arrangement deviates from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

EEw

PIRBE@E)

EESRMIILREMAR  EhUgs
BURTES  REZBUIRTE
EHNHRFEREESHROATE
Sh RS o B Eh —EB T I
TEEABLITRABEZEEELE
B(REHLIEBYBEEELMNH) -
RRE R EESmTIIRBAK

HITES

SREIZE (/%)

R 58 (E FARAEIE)

KB

MKE

TR

[RIE &

(R —F-NEF+— AT N\REHE)

FHTES
)

BYFHTES
970
REX
FmE

REIESEA - REIGRSE A RREF L
RAHE  REBEERRRFELEZRA
R MoREE LA MOREFEER AR
REXLEZMR

WE - ERITEERBUIERITEEL
RERELE  BEARBEERATHEE
REREF FEESRBEELLHR
SFRIZEA 4B 2 SFRNESCE FrimsE - A
A RIEREVE S5 - ARBRANRARID
EERABRTEERNTARES -

AARIEIR ETRAFEIAMGHMRTE -
RSB BIFNTER 2 FEBIIE
HRE - EEERRMEEULIENTE
EHRBIAL -

B NEER



48

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of eleven
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by Shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the Shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and the reasons given by the Director for this
resignation shall be included in the announcement.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with care and due diligence in accordance with his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well-considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A. §$(f‘§)
Responsibilities of Directors (continued) BEESER®H)
During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the BIEEEEN - EESHEATE -

following trainings:

Attending or
participating

in the briefing
session/seminars/
programmes
relevant to

the business/
Directors’ duties

HERSH
HRAXY EBRK
wENE
Name of Directors Bae 5tE
Executive Directors: HITES
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) v
Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) KRB (B HAAKIR) V
Cheung Kwok Ping R N
Lam Ka Po MRE Vv
Cheung Ka Ho RR= \
Zhou Pei Feng EEE \
Liu Min (resigned on 18 November 2019) 2R =FE—NEF+—AT/\BHET) V
Non-executive Director: FHITESE
Lo Ka Leong #Re v
Independent non-executive Directors: BIUEHITES :
Leung Tai Chiu Z2EeHE v
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EEw Vv
Zhang Lu Fu REX N
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2RE N
The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the FE®R - REETEHEESREII 2T
Code on Directors’ training. BIIZEA.6.50% ©
Supply of and access to information ERRHRFER
The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the ARrlERERAEARKRNESGRHE
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in TE  AEREERAMEENER -
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them NEESSENNBERAERBITIEAE
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and EZBBREER - 2REESHENKR
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and BUEBEANRSRERAR -

independent access to the Company’s senior management.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Leung
Tai Chiu, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, to
formulate policies and procedures for determining the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by
the Board, including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

o recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive

Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and

responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 139 to 142 in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’” emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 62 to 68 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the system
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

. formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

° experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

o an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2019, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and

size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

o review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

° review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

° nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

° review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear clearly
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which include establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identifications to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

° to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

° review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2019 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

o discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ping Cheung,
Kaizer (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai Chiu, Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

° identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise; and

o re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered which Directors should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, being executive Directors, Mr.
Leung Tai Chiu and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, being independent
non-executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All
the above-named Directors were nominated by the Nomination
Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. During the meeting of the Nomination
Committee, it had considered the policy for the nomination of
Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for directorship. It
had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

D.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

ESERINER =

EEZESWH)

REBEEEREEARE B - 125
ZESRBAEMARE e LBE(H
AL ) FEIRANA B 4B A S R R B R 5T
RlERACEE - REZESH AR
BRTEERRERRERELEURE
S IHITE R R RN
ARAAFEERRBFEACHER
Fo L2 HEEHRREES GRS
MARREERFBEASBIREST -
WEAEEReSL  HEZEBSEY
REBE - URIERESeME R
B R AR PR A BI2 KR
HENERESS 288  ABRARE
Higs - BREBSEESRRALE
IRy EEMY  RERER EERT

iy o

EXgCREBETARMEZTS S TR
B ZBREEEREFENEZ T
ZBH - RERTEFSNAKETE B
ZIEREZE - BRERERRR) MR - F
B XERBEER Bk BERK
B - BT - A ARISEH o

“T-NFFR



60

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

E.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) provide good opportunities for
Shareholders to air their views and ask Directors and management
questions regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the
annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other
corporate communications in a form chosen by each Shareholder.
The notices are also published on the Company’s website at
www.kblaminates.com. Separate resolutions are required at general
meetings on each distinct issue. A Shareholder is permitted to appoint
any number of proxies to attend and vote in his stead.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address:  23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up-to-date version of the articles of association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s articles of association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.
hk) and the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the
relevant general meetings.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 69 to 213 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS ERETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were AREASTEIEERFNEELHE - 2AY
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements AEG AU BERRNEFRABEENEE - &5
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our LEEEARMEFREGAMBHRERREA
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ERRETREN - TS ELEIEIEH
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. BEENER -

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRES SR

BEMHOEFNAHERETSHETEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

THEFRBEY R ([ FRBEYHE]) 19 25 FE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of
PHD as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and significant judgements involved in estimating
their net realisable value and the future costs to completion
of the PHD.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to
HK$1.7 billion as at 31 December 2019. The Group’s
PHD are all situated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 25 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices. The future selling prices are estimated by reference
to the recent selling prices of similar properties in the same
project or relevant locations. In addition, the management
estimated the future costs to complete the PHD by
reference to the actual development costs incurred and the
completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the cost incurred and the completion status;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing
them to recent transaction prices of similar properties
in the same project or relevant locations, based on
our knowledge of the property markets of the relevant
locations; and

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD, on a sample basis,
based on the actual development costs incurred and the
completion status of the properties of the Group with the
adjustments, taking into account the current market data
and the past history of the similar projects.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

BARFISHw

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREER

Valuation of investment properties

REWEHILE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and complex estimates required in determining
the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$1.4 billion, accounting for
approximately 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2019 with a gain on fair value change of HK$5.6
million recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year then ended.

As further disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of these
investment properties, the Group engaged a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation.
The valuation committee of the Group provided information
to the Valuer and the Valuer established and determined
the appropriate technique and inputs to the valuation
model. The significant unobservable input of the approach
is the price per square metre of comparable properties.
Changes in the comparable properties adopted may result
in a significant increase or decrease in fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer;

Understanding the key assumptions applied to the
valuation based on available market data and evaluating
their reasonableness; and

Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs and
information used by the Valuer and the valuation committee
in the valuation model, including adjustment factors for
location and other individual factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities, on a sample basis, in order to
assess the appropriateness, completeness and accuracy
of these inputs and comparing the comparable properties
adopted with fair market unit price.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

REE B R e M EHRE
AENEE

HFNER  EHRAUBRREBRE T
R IFE S SR M E A AR RA IS
BIERE - WIZRBPIRE W R HE BRE
AEERRLABREMERNZEE RS -
BRILLASN - B SRE AR MR A E © T
P9 FABLAIRE 2 AEETAE b A LAIEE
MEEREZEMES - SERREFEFKEDN
RE - ETRRERRCEBEERDETH
Bit - AR -EARBRRAGTERARER -
SEERPR AL AT LA R ERF S #R AR 52 - ANRAIETR
HEMERNERERATEFERAMBERER
ERE KBRS W B REAMELEERE
AIE BAREA SRR AL TR ARVEE K ©

i

ERB(EBEFEDETEANBES
R o

PIER T EXRHE - RIF T BXIER
(sP)E

#
#

. BHIMFE AR GF R ME RS
MBI FEERBRBAH AR - 3%
S RMITERIEF ARSI E LR - A
REBFE R MEENERE  (FAR
PERNER - MRNRFFA S K&
W BEER - ERRRA 30
BRAERZESIZ £ - Btk ReeEH AR
FEMEBE B A SRR ER SRR
REZX IR R SR SR 1T B B A0 A S AR BR LAY
R o

. MR B ST AR R RO BB IE S - DARREHIE
ENBEEF  ERENLIEY S5H
MEREHIN BRI RER -

. AHEEFEMRASTBERNIGEERIE
HEEtH At MBI EN SR -



67

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEmE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZE =T —NF+-A=T—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —TN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue = ] 5 18,383,952 20,645,776
Cost of sales SHEM A (13,970,306) (15,113,926)
Gross profit EF 4,413,646 5,531,850
Other income, gains and losses Hblg A~ Wezs K EE 7 32,435 (1,744)
Distribution costs PaNiz DN (391,448) (409,735)
Administrative costs TTERR AR (621,565) (663,750)
Gain on fair value changes of EBEATERABEZ
equity instruments at fair EmTAZ A FEZEH W
value through profit or loss 7,643 29,799
Gain on disposal of debt HERAFEFAEMEE
instruments at fair value Wz EBTA 2 W
through other comprehensive income 99,465 1,580
Gain on fair value changes of EMERNTFEEH 2 W
investment properties 5,600 91,056
Share-based payments A AR (96,609) -
Finance costs EE=Vp N 8 (131,947) (103,221)
Profit before taxation MR R R Vi A 3,317,220 4,475,835
Income tax expense FRS RS 9 (908,490) (1,217,844)
Profit for the year NG g F 10 2,408,730 3,257,991
Profit for the year attributable to: NS M B 15 58
Owners of the Company ENNSIESEEUN 2,402,247 3,250,381
Non-controlling interests AR = 6,483 7,610
2,408,730 3,257,991
Earnings per share FRER 13
— Basic and diluted —EARREE HK$0.7807 7t  HK$1.055/ 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZE =T —NF+-A=T—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Profit for the year AEFEZHF 2,408,730 3,257,991
Other comprehensive income (expense) AEEHME2EBA(ZH)
for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T E#HEF HEREm 2 HEE -
Translation reserve: P W fE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RAITEZ2REBMELEZ
to presentation currency P 5 Z=%E (342,623) (801,663)
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEMEHE
Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value 32 A FEFAEMEE KR Z
through other comprehensive income EmTAZ AFEERE (1,206) -
(343,829) (801,663)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ERAEWEHIEE B s
profit or loss: HE -
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEMEEE
Fair value gain (loss) on debt instruments EAVEFAEMEEEE 2
at fair value through other B TR e (EE)
comprehensive income 530,478 (820,740)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of HERAFEFAE MR
debt instruments at fair value through W BB TAMESHHBESE
other comprehensive income B (99,465) (1,580)
431,013 (322,320)
Other comprehensive income (expense) AEEHMEEWE () (BREE)
for the year (net of tax) 87,184 (1,123,983)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEWEETE 2,495,914 2,134,008
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEE2EWE () @E-ENDEE -
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIESYEN 2,491,732 2,137,102
Non-controliing interests FEE RS 4,182 (3,094)
2,495,914 2,134,008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 W=Z—hF+=-A=+—H

EEHEERERABRLF

2019
—g-nE

HK$°000

TR

Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment properties LB 14 1,402,295 1,387,842
Properties, plant and equipment ME - R MR 15 4,779,863 4,818,717
Prepaid lease payments FEEERE 16 - 501,650
Equity instruments at fair BAFERFABE BT A
value through profit or loss 17 376,092 284,776
Equity instruments at fair value through 2 A EF A E M2 EW S 2
other comprehensive income EHmIA 18 6,918 8,124
Debt instruments at fair value through  RAFEET A B4 2 EUEE 2
other comprehensive income BT A 19 3,559,196 6,134,659
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 20 573,011 -
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWME  BERREZ
properties, plant and equipment S HES 398,195 10,487
Deferred tax assets BT IEEE 21 3,076 3,627
Goodwill [EES 22 238 238
11,098,884 13,150,020
Current assets MEEE
Inventories =8 23 1,818,691 1,710,503
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R H M AR R B FRIB
and prepayments 24 4,236,656 4,244,165
Bills receivables e ZE 24 2,844,205 2,944,491
Properties held for development FRRERYE 25 1,666,994 2,134,666
Equity instruments at fair value through 2R F{EE AIB# 2 T A
profit or loss 17 5,442 -
Debt instrument at fair value through A EF AHMEERES 2
other comprehensive income BT A 19 791,630 -
Other current assets HimEEE 26 - 659,429
Prepaid lease payments FERHEERE 16 = 10,004
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries &Yt [E] B E A T ZIE 27 424,684 58,158
Taxation recoverable B EEsE 7,868 7,180
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIES 28 2,908,117 3,803,125
14,704,287 15,571,721
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMEIRR 29 2,920,282 3,195,776
Bills payables FERT 29 272,604 248,352
Contract liabilities GHAE 29 189,050 1,049,071
Lease liabilities HERE 30 549 -
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries EANIEE NG E/e 27 47,203 48,378
Taxation payable e R A 597,150 409,156
Bank borrowings RITEE
— amount due within one year ——FERNE|E 7 I 31 1,291,418 1,065,577
5,318,256 6,016,310
Net current assets REEERE 9,386,031 9,555,411
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERTEAE 20,484,915 22,705,431
—E-NFER



72 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRRE
2019
—2-hE
HK$°000
FHET
Non-current liabilities FERHEE
Deferred tax liabilities REBIABE 21 81,089 85,506
Lease liabilities HEaE 30 901 -
Bank borrowings RITEE
—amount due after one year — —F B RNE A 31 1,653,846 4,776,923
1,735,836 4,862,429
18,749,079 17,843,002
Capital and reserves BEAN R (A
Share capital &N 32 308,100 308,100
Reserves & 18,393,322 17,191,472
Equity attributable to RAEIFEB AELERE
owners of the Company 18,701,422 17,499,572
Non-controlling interests IR i R 47,657 343,430
Total equity BRHBEE 18,749,079 17,843,002

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 213 were approved BN ETF=A-1+=-HEMHERK
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2020 T FEOE213A 2 A MB®RE - XA T

and are signed on its behalf by: NEERKREE
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
REE RER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
E3 E3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZE =T —NF+-A=T—HILFE

Share
capital

Share
premium

Trandlation
T6Serve

ik

Attributable to owners of the Company

Property
revaluation
resene
VE
Efff
HK§ 1000
ThL

Investment
revaluation
resene

Specia
T6SEIVe

(Note 33)

Statutory
TESeIVe

EEHEERERABRLF

Non-
controling
interests

Retained
profits

Gooctwil
6SeVe Sub-total

REEH G SRR

HK$'000
Tin

HERR
HK$000

Balance at 1 January 2018 RIE-\E-F-Hz88% 308100 1711849 1030328 7,268 37934 757689 311,636 199,133 13106022 17469959 516975 17,986,934
Adjustments due to adopting FhiEnEy
new standards Ui - - - - B - - - 8,241 - - -
Balance at 1 January 2018 [Restated) #=F-\E-F-A2

L) 308,100 1,711,849 1,030328 7,268 20098 757689 311,636 199,133 13114263 1746995 516975 17,986,934
Proftfor theyear REEEA - - - - - - - - 3050381 350%1 710 3257991
Exchange diferences arsing RAEZ2REEmEL
from translation to EXZE
presentation currency - - (790,959 - - - - - - (790959 (10704) (801,663
Fairvalue loss on debtinstuments — RATE AL 2 ENEL
at fair value through other ERTIE/ATEER
comprehensive income - - - - 30740 - - - - 040 - 3070
Reclassiy o profit o loss upon disposal At ERAFE:F AL H
of debt instruments t far value 2ENG ERIER
through other comprehensieincome - EFABE R - - - - (1580) - - - - (150 - [1580)
Totd comprehensve fexpense)  AEE2E(FR)
income for the year et - - (7190959) - 3230 - - - 3250381 2,137,102 (3,094 2,134,008
Diidends paidtononcontoling R F3EERIER 2 RS
inferests - - - - - - - - - - (4.356) (4,356)
Final dhidend paid for the year ended 2 [EZ-3—+£
31 December 2017 (Note 12) TZAZT-ALLEEY

RERE(H2) - - - - - - - - (1,620,608 (1,620,606) - [1620608)
Interim chicend paid for he year ended 2 ({812 -3 —/\&
31 December 2018 (Note 12) TZAZT-ALLEEY

hERE (2 - - - - - - - - BRI (3917 - BT
Transfer to reserve ERTGR - - - - - - 1025 - (162289 - - -
Acquision of adaitional interests WK BAAE MER
in subsiares Note ¢) (H3kc) - - - - - - - RW - B2 (166095 (113809)

- - - - - - 10285 52292 (2322066) (2,107,489  (170451) (2277,940)

Balance at 31 Decerber 2018 RZE-\E+2A

“T-AzER 308100 1,711,849 239369 7008 (292627) 767680 473921 251425 14042578 17499572 343430 17,843,002

“E-NEFFR



74 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALTREARGRR

Share-
Property  Investment based Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation revaluation  payments Special  Statutory  Goodwill  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-fotal  interests equity

S R&E  RAFA
Bx  BEEE EXfR  EMRE  EMRE  NFRE  GEBE  iRRE  BEGR  REMA Nt OFERER  ErHE
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tin TR TR TR Tin Tin TR TR TR Tin Tin TR TR
(Note34)  (Note33)  (Notea)  (Noteh)
(Wiis4)  (Wisd)  (Wita) (WD)

Balance at 1 January 2019 RoE-NE-F-BrER 308,100 1,711,849 239,369 7268 (292,621) - 757,689 413921 251425 14042578 17,499,572 343430 17,843,002
Protfor the year FEREH S = - - - - - - - 24 2ae 6488 2408780
Exchange diferences arsing RAEE2HERMELL

from translaton to EiZE

presentaton curency - - (340322) S - - - - - U B
Fairvalue loss on equity nstruments AT ET AR A EREZ

at fair value through other ERIAZATESE

comprehensive inoome - - - = (1,20 = - - - - (1,208 - (1,208
Fair value gein on debt instruments RATEAL2ENEL

at fairvalue through other BRI ATENG

comprefensive income - - - - 530478 - - - - - 530478 - 530,478

Reclassfy to proft or loss upon disposal ~ R ERATERF A\ Ef
of debtinstuments at fairvalue through 2 Z BB LA

other comprehensive income EfHEEER - - - - (99465 S - - - - () -
Tota comprehensive (expense) RERLA (R hies
income for the year - - (340522 - 429807 - - - - 2402041 2,491,732 4182 2495914
Recogniton of equity-settied B EREENRG
share-based payments PR - - - - - %609 = = = - %660 - %60
Dividends paid to non-controling interests B F3AiER 245 - = = o - - - - - - - (1,843 (1843
Final dvidend paid for the yearended ~ EREZ-F-/\F
31 December 2018 Note 12) tZA=T-ALEEZ
e () - - - - - - - - - (1,078350)  (1,078,350) - (1,078,350)
Interim cvidend paid for the yearended ~ EfEZ=F-NE
31 December 2019 Note 12) tZA=T-ALEEL
RERE (1) - - - - - - - - - (308,100)  (308,100) - (308,100)
Transfer o resene 876k = o S - - - - MR - [ - - B
Acquistion of additionalinterests WEMER R
in subsidares (Note ¢ (M) = s = S - - - - ) - () a2 (298,169
- . o = - 9600 - B4 (#1) (1620582) (1289,882) (209955 (1,989,807)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RE-NE

toAzt-R7H WB100 17130 (100953 72688 13180 06600 TS T0B0S 251384 14843 187014R 47661 18749070
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production
operations.

Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group
acquired additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries from non-controlling
shareholders. As a result of the acquisition, the difference of HK$41,000 (2018:
HK$52,292,000) between the consideration paid HK$298,153,000 (2018:
HK$113,803,000) and the amount of non-controlling interests acquired of
HK$298,112,000 (2018: HK$166,095,000) was directly recognised as equity in the
goodwill reserve.

PR -

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

EERBRETADIRETES - HETRH
FARLMBE ([ E DRIZAMTE R B RE
MERNMEBREABRE  B2ERARNUATA
& ()R AR R R ) E R EEE -

WRRE R RRE 2 R TETHEAT
RS2 HE -

REE-_ZT-—NF+_A=Z+—BE-_ZT—\F
TZA=+—BLEFER - AEERIFERR
RN ENMB AR 2 BEIMNES - ZWEE
A BB A B 298,153,00058 7T ( —F — )\ 4F -
113,803,000/# 7t ) B 2 W f FE 1= Rk iE 25 & 58
298,112,000/ 7T (= Z — )\ : 166,095,000/%
JL) 2 Z=E841,0007%8 7T (= F— )\ : 52,292,000
BT BEEREREEPHRAER -

“T-NFFR
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZE =T —NF+-A=T—HILFE

2019
=E-NEF

HK$’000
TR

2018
—ZT—-N\F
HK$’000
TFBT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEZK
Profit before taxation MRFR R A 3,317,220 4,475,835
Adjustments for: BATIEB EL A%
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment ME  BEMREZITE 590,886 590,300
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZITE 11,786 -
Release of prepaid lease payments AR E g E R - 10,916
Interest expenses FMEMX 131,947 103,221
Interest income on bank balances and deposits IRITE S MRS 2 F B M (34,044) (21,744)
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables,  #t'% 5 & U Bk sk iR
net of reversal REEE (R ER) 152,138 51,683
Write-down of inventories MWEFE 96,279 16,685
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, HERMEDE BEMEREZ
plant and equipment g 10,498 31,304
Gain on fair value changes of investment KREYEQNFEES) 2 WEE
properties (5,600) (91,056)
Gain on fair value changes of equity instruments ~ ZA A AR X TAY
at fair value through profit or loss NFEEE WS (7,643) (29,799)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments at fair value ~ HEIRAFEF A LM EWZE S
through other comprehensive income BT Az W (99,465) (1,580)
Share-based payments B R 96,609 -
Operating cash flows before movements KReteEESEHEI 2
in working capital LR enE 4,260,611 5,135,765
Decrease (increase) in inventories FER A (1) 421,470 ©812,121)
(Increase) decrease in trade and Z 5 R H M ERARF &
other receivables and prepayments FERTRIE G )R (299,954) 44,197
Decrease in bills receivables JEES SN 42,633 79,180
Decrease in properties held for development FEEMERD 428,447 1,846,167
Decrease in equity instruments at BATEFAERZ
fair value through profit or loss BT AR 34,122 -
(Increase) decrease in amounts U [B) 0 8 & R FIA
due from fellow subsidiaries (38 hn)E (365,387) 398,900
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables E 5 R HEMERIRFR O/ ) 1N (58,434) 282,795
Increase (decrease) in bills payables RN EBEMNCRD) 78,887 (126,369)
Decrease in contract liabilities aRamEad (880,562) (2,518,708)
(Decrease) increase in FER R RM B A B 5B R ) 10
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (228) 3,966
Cash generated from operations BB RTINS 3,661,605 4,333,778
Other income tax paid EEHMATSH (515,023) (761,430)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid B4 B - G EF ([ B BT ) (477,310) (42,862)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EHEBFEH (933) (1,358)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXRMBEESFE 2,668,339 3,528,128
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of
debt instruments at fair value through other

REXH
HERAFEFARCEEREZE
BTAGKEH) SR

2019
—Z-hF

HK$’000
TR

2018
—N\F
HK$000
THET

comprehensive income 2,386,535 899,249
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at fair HEZ AT EeE AlB2s 2 s T AR

value through profit or loss EE N = 1,122,142
Interest received U FLE 34,044 184,656
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEME - BE MBS KIA

plant and equipment 61,122 37,164
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value through BB AT EF AR M2 E k=R 2 &

other comprehensive income BIAE - (4,229,234)
Purchase of equity instruments BERATEFABGZEGTA

at fair value through profit or loss (123,237) (1,152,239)
Purchase of properties, plant and equipment BEYE  MEMK (653,362) (875,745)
Purchase of investment property BEREYE (11,899) -
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEBMNEERIE - (101,067)
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEEMNR (78,897) -
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties, g3 E =Y S |

plant and equipment Fiffzal& (398,195) (10,487)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REXBRE(FA)

ACTIVITIES REFE 1,216,111 (4,125,561)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED
New bank borrowings raised FILIRITEE 835,841 4,500,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEETEE (3,733,077) (2,059,610)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares B EBRRE (1,386,450) (2,159,781)
Consideration paid for acquisitions of Uk BE T BB A B sBIME s AT S A+

additional interests in subsidiaries 2B (298,153) (113,803)
Interest paid 2 FE (145,581) (117,893)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEERET RS (1,843) (4,356)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEMHEEE (525) -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING REEB(FTR) IS RSEHE

ACTIVITIES (4,729,788) 44,557
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRkRLEEBEARDEE

EQUIVALENTS (845,338) (652,876)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FOzEEeRELSEER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,803,125 4,464,240
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ERSH

CHANGES (49,670) (108,239)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRZEEREELESHEER

END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTING BANK BR{TEBREES

BALANCES AND CASH 2,908,117 3,803,125

—E-NFER
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE T —NF+-_A=+T—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Ltd., a
limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), its
ultimate holding company is Kingboard Holdings Limited (“KHL”), an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares also listed on the Mainboard of the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 43.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which the Directors considered is more relevant for
the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year.
HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 177), and the related
interpretations.

EEHEERERABRLF
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80 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date of
initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related lease
liabilities adjusted by any prepaid lease payments by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening retained profits and comparative
information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS
16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical expedient
to leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17,
on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective lease
contracts elected that not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months of the date
of initial application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily N EEREENNE B ER
effective for the current year (continued) SRR ER| R IEET (8)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) EBUERBERNE16KEEI(E)
As a lessee (continued) TEBETAN (42)
On transition, the Group has made the following adjustments upon BER - AEBRERS S ERRE
application of HKFRS 16: BIE 1694 EH A T g% -
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified ERERL AT AGLHENEE M
as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing Ak AEBRVKBERY HERS
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The BEETEENERERAE SHER
weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied by the relevant B E FE B Y N SE A R 1 2 R R )
group entities range from 2.56% to 4.75%. T2 56%Z54.75% °
At 1 January
2019
R=-B—h%F
~A—H
HK$’000
TERT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 KRB \F+_A=+—HEEN
December 2018 e EAYE 2,763
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term lease W RS RS (339)
2,424
Lease liabilities discounted at RZBE-NF-A—-HEREENBHE
relevant incremental borrowing rates ERIE16501% - B ERCEHE
relating to operating leases recognised upon EREIREIEERFRITENAEaE
application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 1,635
Analysed as DHTIE
Current wE 526
Non-current FERED 1,109
1,635
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82 KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2,

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1
January 2019 comprises the following:

FERAMEREETIZE
R RER([EB
B RS R SRZER |) )

REFEEBREERNEBTIER

¥R2E R B R 2R B RASET ()
BRMBRHEEAF165AEI(E)
TERATN ()
R-FE-hF—A—H BREAEE
ENREERRE

Right-of-
use assets

EREEE

HK$'000
FHET

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases ~ #144 & &6 01 75 B3R A 165514 -

recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 HEBRCENEEENEREEE 1,635
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments WIENHENRETHLE (@) 511,654
513,289

By class: =HERIElS
Land bz 511,654
Office properties EENE ) ES 1,635
513,289
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“H KFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

(@) Upfront payments for leasehold land in the PRC for own use
were classified as prepaid lease payments as at 31 December
2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the current and non-
current portion of prepaid lease payments amounting to
HK$10,004,000 and HK$501,650,000 respectively were

reclassified to right-of-use assets.

Effective from 1 January 2019, leasehold lands which were classified
as properties held for development are measured under HKFRS 16 at
cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for
leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and

comparative information has not been restated.

(b) Upon application or HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered
into but commence after the date of initial application relating
to the same underlying assets under existing lease contracts
are accounted as if the existing leases are modified as at
1 January 2019. The application has had no impact on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at 1
January 2019. However, effective from 1 January 2019, lease
payments relating to the revised lease term after modification
are recognised as income on straight-tine basis over the

extended lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessor (continued)

() Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits
received were considered as obligations under leases to
which HKAS 17 applied under trade and other payables.
Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16,
such deposits are not payments relating to the right-of-use
assets and were adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at
transition. The discounting effect has no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
current year.

There is no impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on retained profits as at
1 January 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily REAFERFHERNEBHBEH
effective for the current year (continued) WEA I ER RIS (&)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) BBV KBEBRENFE16FHAE (E)
The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in RZZE—NF—A—HHEEAEVHARR
the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January 2019. RERANEZRNSBELUTHEAE - T8
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been EATEEEENIER -
included.
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019
RZZ—NF
BER —R—B1RIE
—T-)N\F AN AR
+-A=+—8 R ZF165%
2R EAE HE HECEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepaid lease payments BREENR 501,650 (501,650) -
Right-of-Use assets FREEE - 513,289 513,289
Current assets REEE
Prepaid lease payments BRRERR 10,004 (10,004) -
Current liabilities REAE
Lease liabilities HERE - (626) (526)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - (1,109) (1,109)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-Current®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform+

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could

influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 January 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

° reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;
° introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the

definition it replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the

“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the

Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards (continued)

° discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a measurement
basis for a particular asset or liability;

. states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the
framework. These amendments are effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the framework,
the Group will rely on the New Framework on its effective date in
determining the accounting policies especially for transactions, events
or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the accounting
standards.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
above, the directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair values in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the

results of the valuation technique equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at

the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investeg;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between the members the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ANNUAL REPORT 2019

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amounts by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups of CGUSs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to other assets of the unit
on a pro rata basis on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

3.

SEREEE®)
FEERRENB AR ZER 22D
AN R B K E A RS S B g
BAKEREMBRRAESIE - BI5)
BRREAR S - NEEHANREER
ARCER D K IR B s M AR E B B
B URMERNEARNEEESEE
8 BREREASEEIFERES 2 E
mitPIEREARE RIS
TERE A

E\

oH]

RS AESEED N B
RENAFEREANEZEEENERA
Ewu mm%ﬁé$@ﬁj#—fﬁj\ °

2k

WEEBRES ZEE  BRREBER
EHREVHKA(BL2E EXGBE)
HREDRERE (A )FIER o

SURERNETE - BESRIERRA
Pz R ER R ENALE X BRIR
cEABU(TReELEM])  SH
EABM AR > MZEAREMES
APLAENEE B MR BERE B REK
F B THBBAEE DL -

BESEBEZReELBM(KBRE
ELBEMARN) BFHINZEMLBITR
R BURERETERRE 2R ER
A o R IME R B RELE 2 HE
ME BEESEBEZRSELEN
(R eEEBLAR) N ZREHET
EADETTRERR - WAl E 2 IR
HARE(E - RIRERBBRAE  AEX
BRI E 2 RmE - RERAEL
BREEZRHREREE  RUAIHEER
ZEA (R EEEMAER) 2 EME
&=



93 EERERERERA T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates,
paper laminates, upstream materials, specialty resin and revenue from
food and beverage from hotel operation is recognised at a point in
time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue
from these sales is recognised when customer acceptance has been
obtained, which is the point of time when the customer has the ability
to direct the use of these products and obtain substantially all of the

remaining benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation and service income from drilling

services are recognised over time.

Rental income from property investment and licence fee income will
be accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), whereas
dividend income and interest income from investments will be

accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment

terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods, properties or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant finance component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a significant
financing component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses
during the period between the advance payments were received and
the transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted for
on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to be sold upon
completion of development are classified as current assets. Except
for the leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets
upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties held for development
are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to

completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

The Group transfers properties held for development to investment
properties when there is a change of intention to hold the properties
to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the inception
of an operating lease to another party. Any difference between the
fair value at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is

recognised in profit or loss.

The Group transfers properties held for development to properties,
plant and equipment when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties for the Group’s own use rather than for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Its previous carrying amount of the properties
becomes the deemed cost upon transfers to properties, plant and

equipment.

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than properties, plant and equipment
under construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for office
aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value paintings, with
indefinite useful lives and estimated residual values of not less than
their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than properties, plant and equipment under construction) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of properties, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Licenced properties, plant and equipment

Licenced properties, plant and equipment (included in properties,
plant and equipment) held to earn licence fee income are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items of licenced
properties, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Licenced inventories

Licenced inventories shown as either other non-current assets or
other current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position

are stated at cost less impairment, if any.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to

determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual CGUs when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets
may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the

relevant CGU or group of CGUSs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets other than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets
of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon application
of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application of
HKFRS 16), in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as

property, plant and equipment.

The Group transfers “right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS
16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16) to
properties held for development when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties for the Group’s redevelopment rather than
owner occupation. The previous carrying amount of the “right-of-use
assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments”
(before application of HKFRS 16) becomes the cost of properties held

for development upon the date of transfer.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises right-of-use assets
at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property or inventory as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property or inventory are presented
within “investment properties” and “properties held for development”
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease maodification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee income are
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease
and licence agreement. Other than investment properties measured
under fair value model, such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sales, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have

rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits

the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based

payments reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
payments reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed

immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share-based payments reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained

profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income from equity
instruments which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue. Interest income from bank
balances and deposits are included in other income, gains and

losses.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is

no longer credit-impaired.

FESFHE

ERMTRM®)
EMEEE)
EHEESBEREETE(E)

A NIHRTFN SR E EERIZATE
SEAEM U

. A TREENEBRAREIA
HERKBRAERRERERE
(3

. BRBTMRE  NEERHPELE
MR EREE/HAE MAREERE
AREHFIBRSAL

AR eREERERATEFAR
@ ([BRAFEFAERRE]  ERER
EREEVBRMENFRAL, &
BB EVIGHERE - IRARE RIS
EX SR E - TRIFEEBHERRER
EIW[ERIF AT IRBHETEE Gt
B REANKELE  AKE A ARH
Blih 22 2R RE A FENRER
PrEmemla((EaemiE]) 2
5I) e

BESN - AT & AR SR AR St B iR R
FEFARBEARGFENSREE
HEE R A TE ABREERREEE
BAE RS - AKE A AR RE M IE
HEZHRIE

0) B SRR o A SR
HNRBIRBEN AT EN SR
BEREERATEFAEMS
EREREEB TR - FESKA
ERERRFRAER - FEWA
BEEEREENREARERM
ERMEE - EREBRER
HENSREERI - ERD
RERRENEREENS @ 7
BWAB TEHSHERBEES
BB E RS ANIE B IR A R
R - WEBREERRESZRT
A ERRERGNUSE 2/
BETBERRE  FMEBAB
BHETEETBERRERD
REHNEREENREREE
BRI RHER -

B NEER



114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt
instruments are recognised in OCI and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments. The amounts that are recognised in
profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would have
been recognised in profit or loss if these debt instruments
had been measured at amortised cost. When these debt
instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI, are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(iv) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in “Gain (loss) on
fair value changes of equity instruments at FVTPL”.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, bills receivables and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on those assets are assessed individually and/or collectively using
a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(0

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped on the basis below:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables, bank
balances and other receivables, are each assessed as
separate groups);

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account. For investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in OCIl and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying amount
of these debt instruments. Such amount represents the
changes in the investment revaluation reserve in relation to

accumulated loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the

investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred
to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills payables,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and are subsequently measured at the

higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

U NCERTAI NTY continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 21)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2019, and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC with carrying
amount of approximately HK$302,803,000 (2018: HK$313,161,000)
are held under a business model which objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined the presumption that the carrying amounts of such
investment properties are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in
respect of changes in fair value of such investment properties but has
recognised deferred tax on Enterprise Income Tax on the assumption

that these investment properties will be recovered through use.

As at 31 December 2019, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$418,790,000 (2018: HK$413,190,000) and HK$680,702,000
(2018: HK$661,491,000) respectively are not held under a business
model with the objective of which is to recover the economic benefits
of the investment properties entirely through use. No deferred tax
is recognised in respect of the fair value change in such investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The Group is subject
to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in the
United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment properties located in the United

Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation and impairment of properties, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its properties,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of properties, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected to be
shorter than previously estimated, or it will write-off obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Changes in
these estimations may have a material impact on the results of the
Group. The management review its properties, plant and equipment
to determine if there is any indication that the assets may have been
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of properties, plant and equipment will be determined based on
discounted cash flow method of each asset or CGU. The Directors
consider that there was no indication of impairment that require
the estimation of the recoverable amount of the properties, plant
and equipment including the licenced assets and therefore, no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of properties,
plant and equipment was approximately HK$4,779,863,000 (2018:
HK$4,818,717,000).

Allowances for inventories (Note 23)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories,
management estimated the net realisable value of inventories based
on the most reliable information available at the time the estimates
are made. These estimates take into consideration the fluctuations
in price, the balance on hand relative to sales prospect and the
condition of the inventories. A write down of HK$96,279,000 (2018:
HK$16,685,000) on inventories has been recognised in the profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December
2019, the carrying amount of inventories was HK$1,818,691,000
(2018: HK$1,710,503,000).
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e MBRRME

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of trade receivables (Notes 24 and 36)
The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings for
each grouping of debtors that have similar credit risk characteristic.
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable, and available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, certain balances of trade receivables and
those credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 36 and 24 respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$3,619,001,000 (2018: HK$3,293,568,000),
net of allowance for credit losses of HK$603,257,000 (2018:
HK$464,486,000).

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 25)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group takes into consideration
the current market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. Write down
is made if the estimated market value less estimated cost to
completion of the properties is less than the carrying amount. If the
actual net realisable value on properties held for development is
less than expected as a result of change in market conditions and/
or significant variations in the budgeted development cost, material
write down may result. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount
of properties held for development was HK$1,666,994,000 (2018:
HK$2,134,666,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair

value measurements.

E XS R
BB = 2 E B HRIR ()
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level
3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be observable, other than quoted

4.

B AR 5 R AR
AREE > ER R

DH

EET TABER ZEZRR(E)
DNPEFEREEERF(E)
BRI ASEREMEN A FER - KE
BRI ESA TS A BREUE © Wl
BE-BRARE AEEZEFE=)
éé%ﬁ@%ﬂ$%l&ﬁ%%Lﬂﬁ
B NEREHRR  EFHEERIND
ﬁ@%%ﬂé#’ﬁi%:ﬁ&%*@
NP EFEMNEE HERNEREAR
& - BRARRTISEEIMEN - AE
EgrEBE NIRRT _BUBRBARK

prices in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, 1B o qnimE MR AR BIAERS
the Group will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. KRS E =6 ASUENHERM o 4
Where there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the BERN ¥T§§”‘$E7K """"" ‘B EREER
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any ERFRRA - KRRFHTH 2 EFFE K

changes in the price per square meter in reference with recent
transactions will affect the fair value of the investment properties of
the Group. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used
in determining the fair value of the Group’s investment properties are
disclosed in Note 14.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at
FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt instruments at
FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors will
assess the valuation of financial instruments based on quoted bid
prices of the previous trading day in the markets at the end of each
reporting period. The fair value of the Group’s bond securities listed
on the Stock Exchange and the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) is determined with reference to the pricing
vendor’s estimation, who will assess its fair value taking into account
primarily the fair value quoted by the brokers and which is adjusted
for the lack of marketability of the bond securities at the end of the
reporting period. The pricing vendor will exercise their judgements
based on their experience to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the valuation model. Where there is
a material change in the fair value of the debt instruments at FVTOCI,
equity instruments at FVTPL and equity instruments at FVTOCI,
the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors.
Any changes in the marketability of the listed bonds will affect the
fair value of the investments. Notes 17, 18, 19 and 36(c) provides
detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the Group’s
equity instruments at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI and debt
instruments of FVTOCI.

F%m&mmﬁﬁ%;$¢l&§%%
WATE - BREEARERENER
FEFTA S E R R A BRI AR
BiRE 144558 -

ﬁﬁ$%l§@$@ﬁA%ém%¥I
CERAFERARMEERE R
Iﬁ&& NERTAE M2 ERERE
BIAMNATER  AEEFEATES
TS AT B AR BUE - W EE A
HiE  EERESHEHRER - UmiEE
—AXSHHEABTHEEHRIAN
ﬁﬁoi%%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%%iﬁﬁ
AFE - WEEZERCLHREL
M@%u%ﬂiﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁ%uﬁ%
BRRAFE  BEANEERE AT R
Mﬁﬁ%i%%ﬁ@ﬂﬁq%iﬁni
MHESESFZATE - CESEHEER
BAECHESR  BUNBTEENHE
BRI ERE A AR M IED #
B o MIEAFEFFAEMEERENE
BIA  BAFEFABENEZTIA
&f”$ﬁﬁkﬁm£E%mmmml
AFEBLEBAEE)  gREERS
&@%I o FEHF MG RBIER TR
BEEFEILENFE - WiE17 - 18
w&%ﬁkﬁ?ﬁ%%%#i$%@ﬁ
NEEFABRAERTA  RATFE
AFAEMEERENEETARZATF
B AR EERENEF TANAF
BEFTERAREERT - WABBMES
BEOFEMER o



127

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

5.

REVENUE

Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows:

Revenue recognised at a point in time

MR — B B A 2 KB

EEHEERERABRLF

3
ERERBOHTIT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000

T

HK$’000
FEx

Sales of glass epoxy laminates HEIRE B B INmIR 10,598,388 10,482,318
Sales of paper laminates HERERER 2,035,661 2,273,489
Sales of upstream materials (note a) e _Era (Mista) 2,283,051 2,642,404
Sales of properties HEMZE 1,581,184 3,508,674
Others (note b) HAitp (MizEb) 1,185,567 1,055,171
Revenue recognised overtime (note c) BERF R R Ay 2 58 (M sEe) 138,480 240,584
Revenue from contracts with customers BPatkE 17,822,331 20,202,640
Interest income from debt instruments BETAERBUA 417,848 236,301
Dividend income [EdSSON 17,928 18,108
Rental and licence fee income (Note 38) e MR EW A (KIFE38) 125,845 188,727
18,383,952 20,645,776

Notes:

(a) Sales of upstream materials include sales of copper foil, epoxy resin, glass
fabric and bleached kraft paper. The payment terms are ranged from O day
to 120 days.

(b) Others mainly includes sales of specialty resin of HK$624,077,000 (2018:
HK$754,012,000).

(©) Revenue recognised overtime represents income from drilling services

of HK$74,230,000 (2018: HK$173,963,000) and income from hotel
accommodation of HK$64,250,000 (2018: HK$66,621,000).

@ RS BIEHEIRE - RER
e - BB ERIZEARFL o HFE
[RA0ZE120K °

(0) EMmETZaEHEESEH K
624,077,000 & T ( = & — )\ F :
754,012,000/ 7T) °

© BEERMERNDEEERLEEILR
75 74,230,000 L (= F — J\ & =
178,963,000 7% 7T ) ~ KB & F 75 I
A 64,250,000 7t ( = F — J\ 4 =
66,621,00087T) °
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PR AR M

R EVE N U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers
Apart for sales of properties, all contracts have an original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEE .

TREHRTEFANBENEMEN
ReE®%

BRIEEMEIN  FTAHEANRENF
HIR—FRAT - BEWHBERER
FIHEANDEEEZFTRERA DR
HERTERE -

RZBE-NAFR_ZE-NF+_A
=t—H HEEVEMNE KRR
TREHOBEFECREREE D REK)HIR
SERRIEHRER L R R/ T

2019 2018

—B-hF —ZE-N\F

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Within one year —FR 155,744 1,509,719
More than one year but not more —F LA B

than two years THBIBRRF 164,976 -

320,720 1,609,719

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating segments to
be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of
the Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into three main operating
divisions — (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates; (i) properties; and
(iii) investments. The management aggregated the sales of properties,
rental and hotel income business into one reportable segment
because the financial performance of these businesses are affected
by changes in the property market.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment profit or loss represents the profit
earned by each segment with certain items not included (unallocated
corporate income and expenses, share-based payments and finance
costs). This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of

resource allocation and performance assessment.

o EBE R

FEMBERRERFSREL N IR
KUAKEZ TREERRE(ERE
BERRE D EH D BIEERD B MFHE
HEXR EAEREMNARARETR
BRI ARBREIEREERLN B2 E
%o AEME  RNEBUHRRENS
8T AEBZEBETEHRZDHO B
“EEEEES - ()REKRHERR
R (i3 R (iR E - BB YIFRIE
& MELAARBERAEBEGHH—
BRI HREDE - FARELERBOMHR
RIZMEMSEBHNTE

AEBRBEE BB RHRERF8HKA
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (a) oHEEBEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results BIELL RREDIE D 2 KE
by operating and reportable segments: EEEEREESTOT
For the year ended 31 December 2019 Bz2-—FE-hFE+=-A=+—H

ILFE

Laminates Properties Investments Consolidated
BiER /E RE o)
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$°000

TET TET TET FTHET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(HzEa) (B aEb) (HizEe)

Segment revenue DERE LR 16,236,897 1,711,279 435,776 18,383,952
Segment results DEEE 2,160,346 862,386 538,923 3,561,655
Unallocated corporate income RABZDFA 63,322
Unallocated corporate expenses AN EZ AFIEH (79,201)
Share-based payments PARR T RT3 (96,609)
Finance costs BB (131,947)
Profit before taxation BRTR A& A 3,317,220

' —T-NEEH
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

kv | AN
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁﬁgﬁﬂ(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (continued) () oHEEBREESE
For the year ended 31 December 2018 gz2-E2—N\E+=-BA=+—8
WHFE
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
EiER ES ®E o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT THET THET FHET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(FfizEa) (Ffi+Ep) (FfizEe)
Segment revenue DERE R 16,747,345 3,644,022 254,409 20,645,776
Segment results DEEE 2,775,164 1,545,862 262,715 4,583,741
Unallocated corporate income AABZ BEMA 43,361
Unallocated corporate expenses KD ECZ AR H (48,046)
Finance costs MERKA (103,221)
Profit before taxation BiAT S 4,475,835

Notes: BT

(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (@) EEESHERARIBHEE
of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates, upstream materials, BiREMR - KERER © £
drilling services, licence fee income, the sales of specialty resin R - EARBHEE
and others into “Laminates” segment. - BKEEABRA - HE

BRI g R A A& Ot Al B iR
R |5 EE -

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (b) EREEHHEMESEE
of properties, rental income and hotel income into “Properties” Ao WA REERAS A
segment. [ 198D -

(© The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (0) BEREHESTEF WA
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from LiEmER BB AEESE
equity instruments into “Investments” segment. AHATIRE 1 DEB -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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ARE I IRARMEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by operating and reportable segments:

At 31 December 2019

EEHEERERABRLF

D EE R @)
b)) PHEEREBH)

RBEERBEDIEI D 2 A%
BMEENBBESNWT

R-B-AF+=A=t+—H

Properties Investments Consolidated

ES RE &8

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
- Deferred tax assets
- Taxation recoverable

- Bank balances and cash

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
— Deferred tax liabilities
- Taxation payable

Consolidated total liabilities

Laminates
EHER
HK$°000
THT
BE
NEEE 14,255,576
APBZEE
—EERBEE
— A E IR
—FITERERS
RABEHRE
afE
HEEE (3,174,863)
APBzBE
—RITEE
—EEHEEE
—ESHIA
RABERE

3,889,256

TET THET THET

4,739,278 22,884,110

3,076

7,868
2,908,117

25,803,171

(255,726) - (3,430,589)

(2,945,264)
(81,089)
(597,150)

(7,054,092)

—T-NEEH
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

At 31 December 2018

Properties

D EE R @)
b)) PHEEREBH)

R-ZB-N\F+ZA=t—H

Investments  Consolidated

UES BE& o)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TR TAT

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
- Deferred tax assets
- Taxation recoverable

- Bank balances and cash

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
— Deferred tax liabilities
- Taxation payable

Consolidated total liabilities

LLaminates
BINER
HK$'000
TET
BE
NEEE 13,694,235
APBZEE
—EERBEE
— A E IR
—FITERERS
RABEHRE
afE
HEBE (2,985,165)
APBzBE
—RITIEE
—EERAEEE
—ESTIA
RABERE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable and
bank balances and cash; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and

taxation payable.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

4,509,783 6,703,891

(1,556,412) -

24,907,909

3,527
7,180
3,803,125

28,721,741

(4,541,577)

(5,842,500)
(85,506)
(409,156)

(10,878,739)

REREDBFRBR RN D EE DI
B

. BEEREEE A ¥
B B8 T8 A K SR 1T A& Bk
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FEMBHmRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinueq) 6. DEER@
(c)  Other information () HtER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-AF+=A=+—H
IEEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or stES SRR DB ER AT A
segment assets. s I

Laminates Properties Investments Consolidated

FRER IES RE &e
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TEx TER TERT
Capital additions BRI 780,278 280,658 - 1,060,936
Depreciation of properties, WE - BERRETE
plant and equipment (571,352) (19,283) (251) (590,886)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {f S EITE (8,354) (3,432) - (11,786)
BRATER ABR
Gain on fair value changes of BHTEATE
equity instruments at FVTPL SR - - 7,643 7,643
Gain on fair value changes of REMENTEEH 2
investment properties ez - 5,600 - 5,600
Gain on disposal of debt HERAFEFAZLEZE
instruments at FVTOCI YmmEB TR e - - 99,465 99,465
Loss on disposal and written off of & R EEIE -
properties, plant and equipment WENEEZER (10,498) - - (10,498)
Write-down of inventories WoRFE (96,279) - - (96,279)
Impairment loss on trade BRI 2 RERE
receivables, net of reversal (Mk#EE) (152,138) - - (152,138)
Interest income on bank balances  $R1T4% RIFEFEHA
and deposits 29,400 1,996 2,648 34,044

‘ “E-NEFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6. DEER
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HaER®
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-—Z-N\E+=-A=+—H
IHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or TEN BRI D EPEERTA
segment assets. s - i
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BHER S ®E Fae)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT THET THT FHET
Capital additions BRI 960,144 123,651 - 1,083,795
Depreciation neE (570,439) (19,610) (251) (590,300)
Release of prepaid lease payments  TE{HA & 2 & E (6,336) (4,580) - (10,916)
Gain on fair value changes of equity &/AT{EEH AR T
instruments at FVTPL AQNTEZENKE - - 29,799 29,799
Gain on fair value changes of REMELNTERS 2 Mz
investment properties - 91,056 - 91,056
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERZRAHEF AL 2 ME
at FVTOCI WaEmEE LA Wa - - 1,580 1,580
Loss on disposal and written off of & REEME -« KEKE
properties, plant and equipment &7 E51E (31,304) - - (31,304)
Write-down of inventories MEFE (16,685) - - (16,685)
Impairment loss on trade receivables, & 5 JE U BE 7 2 S B &R
net of reversal €itl73:{=) (61,683) - - (61,683)
Interest income on bank balances  $R1T4% RIFEFEHA
and deposits 20,071 1,609 64 21,744
The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of NEBFELEBAN PR (ANE
domicile). B2 i)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from RE PSR sk (KB
external customers by geographical location of the customers A% B U A K R B A) I E
or tenants or in the case of dividend income and interest HEBANTELEMEE D2
income, the principal place of business of the investee or REEIINLEEEETEDITW
debtor. I

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘
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mRENBHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /J-J\%BE*SI'(%)
()  Other information (continued) (c) HtER®E
2019 2018
—g-nE  —ENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
The PRC (country of domicile) HE (NS B 2 FrfEih) 17,387,696 19,420,421
Other foreign countries: HMER -
Other Asian countries EfhgmMBIZR 922,823 1,101,477
Europe BOM 45,883 56,602
America =M 27,550 67,276
18,383,952 20,645,776
Revenue from one of the Group’s customers in laminates TEAEBREBEHRNEIR D
segment amounted to HK$2,223,204,000 (2018: Eh—REBEPHNEEEA
HK$2,065,525,000), which individually accounted for over 2,223,204,000/ T ( =& — )\
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year. F : 2,065,525,000/87T) * {h4AS

SEARFENEERERBI0%

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, MRIEERIBEE « IR AT EEA
other than deferred tax assets, equity instruments at FVTPL, BEOERTE  HAVESA
equity instruments at FVTOCI, debt instruments at FVTOCI HibrmEkEmHERSZTAE %A
and deposits paid for acquisition of properties, plant and EEFAEMEERENERLT
equipment by location of assets is presented as follows: ABUARWEDZE - BEREFEZ

B2 AREIFRBEE
WEEMEDIT25IMT

2019 2018

—E-hF — =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
PRC (country of domicile) B (AR EEE 2 FriEsD) 5,340,322 5,398,864
Hong Kong B 448,238 387,396
United Kingdom I 680,702 661,491
Thailand Z=E 286,145 260,696
6,755,407 6,708,447

' —T-NEEH
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hftilg A ~ zm= R SE
2019 2018

—2-hE —2-N\F
HK$'000
Tt

HK$000
TR

Income, gains and losses includes: EHAUA ~ WS R EIEEE

Interest income on bank balances and deposits 874588 R ik 4 ~ Fl B A 34,044 21,744
Loss on disposal and write off of properties, HERBBEME - BEREEZE
plant and equipment B (10,498) (31,304)
Others Hih 8,889 7,816
32,435 (1,744)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERAK
2019 2018
—®-nE T )\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FBT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 62 -
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEEF B 145,901 116,941
Imputed interest on contract liabilities ERAEEZEENE 2,264 -
Less: Amounts capitalised in the construction i : fEiE TI2H9E RN L %8
in progress (14,016) (18,720)
Amounts capitalised in the properties BN IELD
held for development BRI &5 (2,264) -
131,947 103,221

Bank and other borrowing costs capitalised during the year include
imputed interest on contract liabilities of HK$2,264,000 (2018: nil) as
well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the general borrowing pool
which were calculated by applying a weighted average capitalisation
rate of 2.92% (2018: 2.46%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying
assets.

RAFEEEAEMRITREMEEK
KBEEHBENHERNE2264,000
BL(ZE—N\F - B)IUR—REEAM
EENRITEERA KB ERE
AIEFEHEREEMNR2.92%(=F
—\4F : 2.46%)
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ma

9.

PR AR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EEHEERERABRLF

FrEBIRAY

2019 2018
—E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHET
The amount comprises: HIBEIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EATSH 698,907 710,216
PRC LAT AR £ it I (E 207,568 507,887
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH 3,842 1,251
Taxation arising in other jurisdiction HA e AR 2 B 2,139 2,465
912,456 1,221,819
Deferred taxation EERIA
Credit for the year (Note 21) REZEB(MFE21) (3,966) (3,975)
908,490 1,217,844

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

BRPEARFMBEI G ERETA R
KRBT RAERGS  B=FF
NE—A—BfE  BRRTERER
B2 REMSHER25% °

FHRLHIRERBERERRE BT ER
ERBRAELMGEE - REMWIEES
BURBYMEHEERANEIEEEREK
RIABEBREAD 2 =TENRTEE
B LHMIRER - HEEBRKARER
THRA  BRIEERA - REARE
REEZERNKAR - BRERXHEESD
ZEARE  HEBTRELH LI
BR - HEEERTKES BRMEKR

Ny
ZS o
g

R-ZE—-—NF=A=+—H FBELA
CEBTI T —EFHBK(EE])(FE7
FOGEPIER J([GPIEZR]) - ZIEHE
ZE| AT HEBRAS - WERR =T
—N\F=ZAZFTNRAEEXNRERE
WS R BEFRTE o RIBEFS T MR
fl GEREBERBONE 885
G 1E8.25%EH - MBB-EEET
B A BB 16.5%HF - THA TS
MRS EBEEEOF B EER
16.5% M [E| FE B KB ©

—T-NEEH
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FEHBX e
The directors of the Company considered the amount involved KRABIEERE - BHeFESHMARSIFT
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as RS REELE ST IERRITEE XA
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong 1% - MEFENETBNER HIRGETE
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit REEAIA16.5% 2 FREFTE o

for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing H e rEERESMHIBIRABEE
in the relevant jurisdiction. HERAIRITRRAE -

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation NEEF 72 HIBEGSIBERRB T RDSA
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: ZHERINT -

2019
—Z-hF

HK$’000
FET

Profit before taxation B A ) 3,317,220 4,475,835

Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of ~ LAB R FT15H & 25%

25% (2018: 25%) (Note a) (ZZ—)\F : 25%):TH
FIE S H (fif5ta) 829,305 1,118,959

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TR B A2 BGE T8

tax purpose 79,064 7,826
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBWA Z G2

tax purpose (77,597) (89,689)
PRC LAT AR IR (E TR 207,568 507,887
Tax effect of PRC LAT o T IR (E R TR R 2 (51,892) (126,972)
Tax effect of Tax Concession (Note b) HEEEZHEZEZ (H:Eb) (30,047) (70,729)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIBSEB 2 HiSE 21,071 5,850
Utilisation of tax losses previously B SR AR FE R IE 1B

not recognised (5,229) (18,083)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MRBERFTIS RSN -

operating in other jurisdiction/areas REMBLARERE M E AL %

other than the domestic income tax rate MEBARZ TR R & (41,502) (75,435)
Effect of tax exempted profit (Note c) e BEa R 2 8 (MEe) (22,251) (41,770)
Tax expense for the year REE 7R 908,490 1,217,844

Notes: i

(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2018: 25%) represents the (@) A FTS R A %R 25% (= F — )\ F :
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s operations are 25%) IEAREB R IBH EBFEMNF
substantially based. EMEHR -

(b) Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be (o) IRIBDEMEHE - St g
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was officially HETTRAULZEERBH=FM15%H
endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC obtained official endorsement as EEHE - A THREWNBAREEHRA
a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax concession”) and with the expiry BRIt (BEER]) - 2I#HA
dates on or before 2021. KT —Fh 2l -

©) Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are (@] RARMIFNRP 2 & TFHBARFES
exempted from profits tax. Zim FIERR R B FISEL o
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mEMBRRME
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. NEERF
2019 2018
—E-NF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at AR N B SRR
after charging: LATIER -
Auditor's remuneration ZERTEN & 3,750 4,053
Cost of inventories sold BEEGFEZKA 13,177,071 13,127,423
Cost of properties sold EEME KA 696,956 1,969,818
Depreciation of properties, ME - BERREITE
plant and equipment 590,886 590,300
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 11,786 -
Direct operating expenses in relation to REYMEZBEEEERY
investment properties 30,353 31,292
Net exchange loss M 5 518 5 57,011 160,117
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, & RIEEE - BE L
plant and equipment RiEEE 10,498 31,304
Release of prepaid lease payments AR ERERE D - 10,916
Total staff costs, including directors’ BIRANERE  BIEEEe
emoluments (Note 11) (B&E11) 860,221 810,945
Write-down of inventories, included in WoRTFE - s ASHEKA
cost of sales 96,279 16,685
Impairment loss on trade receivables, B 5 EWR TR ERE
net of reversal ($0BR%#EE[E) 152,138 51,683

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EE » THHEBKES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [ [

(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (@) ESRTHAZME
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: B SRERN 2T
2019
—E—hEF
HK$’000
THT
Fees we 1,188 1,188
Other emoluments: HEmps
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF] 16,612 17,369
Contributions to retirement benefits RIRRRAIEEIHR
scheme 828 799
Performance related incentive T 1ERIREBEIF A
payment (Note ii) (BT 70,874 72,190
Share-based payments VARR 5 FE AR 64,901 -
154,403 91,546

‘ —T-NEEH
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(o)  Chief Executive’s emoluments
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(c) Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 42, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, the executive Directors, are interested
in these transactions to the extent that they have indirect
beneficial interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate
holding company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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mRENBHRME
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHET
Dividends paid EIRERRE
ZE-NFEZPERE
2019 Interim dividend of HK10.0 cents G BA%10.0781L
(2018: HK17.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ2=N\FE : 17.580l) 308,100 539,175
ZE-N\FEZREARE
2018 Final dividend of HK35.0 cents FhR & BA%35.081L
(2017: HK52.6 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ—+tFE : 52.6/810l) 1,078,350 1,620,606
1,386,450 2,159,781
Dividends proposed EERE
Proposed 2019 Final dividend of HK30.0 BRIZ-NF2RERKRE
cents (2018: HK35.0 cents) BFHEEAZ30.078 11
per ordinary share (ZZ— ) \F : 35.0510) 924,300 1,078,350
Proposed 2019 special final dividend H T NF 2 RIRER
of HK40.0 cents (2018: nil) P& B % 3B A% 40.078 1L
per ordinary share (ZZE—-N\F:8KF) 1,232,400 -
2,156,700 1,078,350
The final dividend of HK30.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to EEEEEE-ZE—NLFE+ A
HK$924,300,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 =+ —BUlFERERGKEERYE
(2018: final dividend of HK35.0 cents per ordinary share amounted BARS0.0NI(ZE—)\F : REKE
to HK$1,078,350,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December TR MA35.0/8100) R RIAR EIAR B
2018) and special final dividend of HK40.0 cents per ordinary share FREBER400BUL(ZZE—N\FE -
amounted to HK$1,232,400,000 in respect of the year ended 31 WH) 2% 5 R A924,300,0007% 7T
December 2019 (2018: nil) have been proposed by the directors and (B2 N\E+-_A=1+—H81t#F
are subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the E - KREIA% B 1,078,350,0007 T ) &
forthcoming annual general meeting. 1,232,400,0008 T(ZZ—/)\F : 848

FrRIREIE) - MAFARRBRER
FEEBRRBEFRGHE - TAFEE

‘ —T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BERER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable KNG E ANEEGIRER SR F
to owners of the Company is based on the following data: BIHEEE
2019 2018
ZEB-hF —FN\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Earnings for the purpose of basic and BREARREE R ZmF
diluted earnings per share 2,402,247 3,250,381

Number of shares

BAPEE
2019 2018

S o
’000 ‘000
T T

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of — ERREA R #EH & T~

basic and diluted earnings per share EBARPIRE 3,081,000 3,081,000
The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the RSN ST E T EEBEITEARAD
exercise of the Company’s share option because the exercise price AIMELRERE  AAZSELREIRE
of these share options was higher than the average market price for H{TEESR2019FEM IS EHEE
shares for 2019.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘



145

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

EEHEERERABRLF

14. REWHE

HK$°000
FET

FAIR VALUE ~NHE

At 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—HA—H 1,344,937
Exchange adjustments HE 5,5 (48,151)
Gain on fair value changes N EZE 2 W 91,056
At 31 December 2018 RZE—NFE+_A=+—H 1,387,842
Exchange adjustments TR (3,046)
Additions NE 11,899
Gain on fair value changes N EZE 2 W 5,600
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=+—H 1,402,295

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of
1to 17 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangement, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2019 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (2018: Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited), an independent qualified valuer not connected to
the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation was determined
based on direct comparison method by reference to the market
observable transactions of similar properties and adjusted to reflect
conditions and locations of subject properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

AREBBRECEASHAZERAS
BAKBEE - HE—RHENT1E
17 M EEME -

AEE & RNEE B A SMNE R,
b ARMAHELNEEEREAN
W E%IIE - BOL T BREMBEER
R,/ RABAREARBE YR ERE
o

AEBRENER _Z-AF+_-A
=+ —BZAFETHZEASEL EEE
B2 B A BRI ER G SRR
FHERAR(ZF—/\F BRI
AHEEAARAR) ETTHEZEEE
B mBRHAEHBNERAR/ES
BEMEEEE - MEDRERILER
SEROUMEZ AIBRETS X5 AN
HABURBRBEME 2R R ERE
TE o RIBEFREMAZ S ERMIL EE
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value

measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The valuation committee works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the valuation
committee’s findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the

fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements is observable.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs inputs Sensitivity
FEERAGEHBMRREER  ATE
REZREN* BERA REXMREIZEBAZE EXATTEERAZE
Industrial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Hong Kong method with price per market direct comparable per square metre used would
square metre properties and taking into result in a significant increase in

account of location and other the fair value measurement of
individual factors such asroad  the investment properties, and
frontage, size of property etc.,  vice versa.

which is ranged from HK$40,979

to HK$42,988 (2018:

HK$41,426 to HK$41,555) per

square metre.

REBHIHNE F=R BEREBER FRTSERTLENEREE SYIRERARE LSRR
FFIKER fiBAREMENRRR (G EVENAFEFERBELT

HEE  MENSNGES RZMR-
KE®  NTEFEFKL0979%
JLE42,988 8 (ZF—\F ¢

41,426 TLE41,555/8 ) ©

‘ —E-NEFEFER
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERRR MR R R
FEZRENE

Fair value
hierarchy
AVE
b

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

HEXMREZWAHE

Significant unobservable
inputs

EATTRERARE

Sensitivity

BRE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Hong Kong with price per square metre market direct comparable per square metre used would
properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
account of location and other the fair value measurement of
individual factors such as the investment properties, and
road frontage, size of property  vice versa.
etc., which is ranged from
HK$204,351 to HK$213,072
(2018: HK$200,090 to
HK$203,981) per square metre.
REBNEANE E=8 BEXRER RATSEETHENERERE GTREERKNRE LANEER
FEHAK ENREMERERE (R  EMENATEEAE L
B1% EE  MERNNE)NETR  RZTA
KER - NFEFFHK204,351
BTE213,0728 T (ZE -\
£ : 200,090/ T £203,9817%
L) °
Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Shanghai with price per square metre market direct comparable per square metre used would
properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
account of location and other the fair value measurement of
individual factors such as the investment properties, and
road frontage, size of property  vice versa.
etc., which is ranged from
RMB28,953 to RMB32,008
(2018: RMB32,000 to
RMB32,042) per square metre.
R EBREmAYE E=8 BEERER RATSEETHENERER GTOREERKNRE LANERR
BFHARER 7 8 A K H A 1 A 37 BMENATEEAE L
(NERETERE - MERNE)H  R2TA -
BYFRER  NFEEFRA
R 28,9531 F AR #32,0087T
(ZZ—N\F: AR%32,0007T
ZARE32,04270) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGFEHBMRRE
REZREMF

Fair value
hierarchy
AT
BERE

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERTREEGAZE

Significant unobservable
inputs

EXTUBEHALE

Sensitivity

BREE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Shenzhen with price per square metre market direct comparable per square metre used would
properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
account of location and other the fair value measurement of
individual factors such as the investment properties, and
road frontage, size of property  vice versa.
etc., which is ranged from
RMB13,750 to RMB15,800
(2018: RMB15,794 to
RMB16,207) per square metre.
iNZllEsEEgEEkES E=R BEREBER RRATSEZRALENERE  BYHREBKREAEEUR
BYFKER BRENREGERNEEZR( BNENATEFEABLA
BRATER  MERINF)NET R2MA-
FARER  NFETHRARER
13,7507LE AR #15,8007C( =
T—)\F : ARB15,794TLEA
KH#16,2077T) ©
Commercial Shops in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Qingyuan with price per square metre market direct comparable per square metre used would
properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
account of location and other the fair value measurement of
individual factors such as the investment properties, and
road frontage, size of property  vice versa.
etc., which is ranged from
RMB9,171 to RMB10,909 (2018:
RMB10,000 to RMB10,360) per
square metre.
PB R AR E=1 BEEEBER FRATSERANENERZR  SYHREBRKRRE -SSR
BYFKER B AREMERNRRE (RS EMEOATESEAE LT
BE - MEXNE)NGTHRE RZTFA
& NFETIIRARKIITIT
EARK109097(ZF—N\F :
AR#10,000TEAKE10360
L) °
—E-NEFEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGFEHBMRRE
REZREMF

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BEME

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant unobservable
inputs

Sensitivity

ERAREIEGAZE EAFTRERAZE BRE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
London with price per square metre market direct comparable per square metre used would
properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
account of location and other the fair value measurement of
individual factors such asroad  the investment properties, and
frontage, size of property etc.,  vice versa.
which is ranged from Great
British Pound (“GBP”) 8,510 to
GBP9,218 (2018: GBP8,569 to
(GBP8,886) per square metre.
ISEEEEERES E=R BEEEER RRATSERILENERER SYHREBKREAEEIUR
BYFKER EAREMERNERE (MR EMEOATESEAE LT
K MEKRDE) METH RZTA -

KB - NFEFTK8,51058

FE28RE (ZF—N\F:

8,5695 558,886 85) ©
There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year. FR - TEAE=FRIEASEL -
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There
has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior years.

AEERRIVE S 3 E AR EL R B
BHRNBBE BN E#S - AFA
RFEEXE X BERIERED
¥ o MERTMEZRAFER  MEZK
ShRERERBNAR - RBEFE
PR Z (R E R E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND 15. 1% - BMEREE

EQUIPMENT
Properties,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Plant and Licenced fixtures and Motor under
Buildings  Improvements machinery assets equipment vehicles Artwork  construction
RE  GR%E HEYE
53 N HEREE EREE kit & R BERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000
Tax 70 Tx TAx Tax S92 Tx Tx
(Note)
(HE)
00sT s
A1 January 2018 R=F-\§-A-A 1,517,264 P54 86TE65 2,301,381 836,642 64,863 7800 436245 13564374
Exchange adjustments ExRE (17,509) (260) (417,531) (106,032) (37,769) (1,558) - (20221) (600,874)
Additions A& - - 412,180 5619 57242 7613 = 376,423 859,077
Disposals and wrte off HERH (2124 - (267,949) - (16,435) (2,065) - (1597) 290,164)
Reclassfications Erip | 187,699 - 271,340 - (207,997) - = (251,242) -
At 31 December 2018 RZF-\E+ZA=1-F 1,685,530 0B/ 83BN 2200968 631,689 68,853 7800 530608 13522413
Exchange adjustments ExE (42,708) 8010 (390,066) 48108) (36,827) (1,808) (642) 9583) (521,730)
Additions e - 142 2,714 1,030 16,668 1,288 12,274 419,01 693,317
Disposal and writ off HE R - - (401,859) - (44479 (7.334 - (2491) (456,159)
Reclassffied from licenced assets ~ EAEFREEEHE 308465 - 1836271 (2,153,890) - 9154 - - -
Reclassfications B8 38206 - 431,304 - 18,202 - = (487,712) -
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NETZA=1-F 1,989,495 40406 10,074,079 - 585,250 70,153 19432 459023 13297847
DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT % Rf8
A1 January 2018 R=%-N\§-A-8 314,076 1558 5908105 2025299 416,731 43962 - - 8T
Exchange adjustments EjE (2.281) (127) 272,306) (©4918) (17952 (1,035) - - (388619)
Provided for the year TEERRE 18507 2,102 440313 67,576 61,714 5,068 - - 590,300
Elminated on disposals and write off H{&H s Tk i (3.861) - (212,689) - (3,228) (1,918 - - (221,696)
Reclassfication EAE 3959 - 13 - (3972 - - - -
At31 December 2018 RZF-NET2A=1-F 325,420 17518 580343  1997.957 453,93 46,077 - - 87036%
Exchange adjustments Ex g% (10816) 2733 (384,619) [43671) (13963) (1,729) - - (452,069)
Provided for the year TEEERE 738 2985 500,983 12,190 61477 5923 - - 500,886
Eliminated on disposals and wrie off HEE 5 Tk - - (335,504) - (41,676) 7.283) - - (384,533)
Reclassffied from licenced assets ~ ERREEHEEEHE 127,73 - 1830701 (1,966,476) - 8,040 - - -
At31 December 2019 RZE-NETZR=1-8 49,667 23231 7474907 - 459,131 51,048 - - BT
CARRYING VALUE A
At31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-A 1,539,828 7175 259,172 - 126,128 19,105 19432 459023 4779863
At31 December 2018 RZF-NET-A=1-F 1,360,110 14,741 2492275 203,011 178,39 2776 7800 530608 4818717
ZE-NEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other than
artwork and those under construction) are depreciated on a straight-
line basis after taking into account of their residual values at the
following rates per annum:

Buildings* Over the remaining unexpired
terms of the leases ranging
from twenty to fifty years

Improvements 10-20%
Plant and machinery* 10-20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/5%
Motor vehicles* 20%

* Including those grouped under licenced assets.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘
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15. Y1% - BMERRE®)

bz - BB MREEEB (B2l Hm
REZEBINBEEBERBEBRLIA
THEELRAEGEEFHRITE ¢

B RREHAFIREK
AW F B @
ZTERT+F

MEEE 10-20%

i e 2s 10 -20%

B RENMEE 10-33/%

e 20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

Ay 172 an A__
15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND 15. Y% » BERREw
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Note: iz :
Licenced assets comprised of the following: BEFAEERIENATSIE
Plant and
Buildings machinery Motor vehicles Total
BF S 28 RE &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHERT FET FExT
COST B
At 1 January 2018 R=F—-\F—F—H 326,061 1,965,907 9,413 2,301,381
Exchange adjustments IE 5 (15,159) (90,439) (434) (106,032)
Additions NE 4,456 1,163 - 5,619
At 31 December 2018 R=ZE—-N\F+=ZA=+—H 315,358 1,876,631 8,979 2,200,968
Exchange adjustments & 5 #R (6,893) (41,019) (196) (48,108)
Additions NE - 659 371 1,030
Reclassification EEibay (308,465) (1,836,271) (9,154) (2,153,890)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+_A=+—H - - - -
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT rERRE
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\FE—HA—H 130,949 1,885,831 8,519 2,025,299
Exchange adjustments FEH AR (6,141) (88,383) (394) (94,918)
Provided for the year AN E RS 3,249 64,268 59 67,576
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=+—H 128,057 1,861,716 8,184 1,997,957
Exchange adjustments R (2,799 (40,693) (179) (43,671)
Provided for the year REE RS 2,477 9,678 35 12,190
Reclassification Eibay (127,735) (1,830,701) (8,040) (1,966,476)
At 31 December 2019 R-EBE-NE+=-A=+—H - - - -
CARRYING VALUE BRMEME
At 31 December 2019 R_ZE—NF+—_A=+—H - - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\E+=-A=+—H 187,301 14,915 795 203,011

‘ —T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

15.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Note: (continued)

On 3 August 2011, 30 August 2013 and 28 August 2015, a subsidiary of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited (‘KBCF” or the “Licensor”) (KBCF is a subsidiary of the
Group), entered into a licence agreement and a letter of extension and amendments
with Harvest Resource Management Limited (the “Licencee”), a third party, to licence
KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located at Fogang and Lianzhou to the
Licencee for the period from 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2017. On 30 August
2017, the Licensor entered into a letter of extension and amendments with Licencee
and extended the licence period for a further period of two years to 31 August 2019.
The details of the licence arrangement which remained unchanged, are as follows:

(i) to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory buildings in Fogang and
Lianzhou;

(ii) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories which shall include
consumables and stocks in trade; and

(iii) to use the machinery, together with all other equipment and facilities as
from time to time located at the properties in Fogang and Lianzhou.

The licenced properties, plant and equipment tabulated above and the licenced
inventories in Note 26 were licenced for licence income of HK$10,000,000 per
month receivable in advance on the first day of each and every calendar month, as
a measure by KBCF to generate income from the manufacturing facilities, pending
the resolution of the interested party transactions issue, relating to the manufacturing
and trading of copper foil, with the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF (Note 39(b))
and the approval of the interested party transactions mandated by the shareholders
and/or when KBCF clinched new third parties customers for the sales of copper foil.
In the prior year, the licenced properties, plant and equipment have been classified as
licenced assets under properties, plant and equipment.

The licence agreement between the Licensor and the Licencee had been expired
on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered any letter of extension and
amendments with the Licencee to extend the licenced period. Accordingly, the
licenced assets have been reclassified to respective buildings, plant and machinery
and motor vehicles under properties, plant and equipment.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

15.

M~ BERREw

fsE - ()

WZE——F/\A=ZR - ZZ—=FN\A=+H
R=—Z—hF/\A=+N\R  2EREEEER
DENEERE R READ (EERERASE
BB AR KN —EEARERERES
BAR(RE=7) ([EREA DT ERAEE R
ENMEISL IS RERT R - AR BN =F
——FNA-HEZT—+FNA=+—HIH
BT M A (5 PSR B ARSB (L AR ) R B
HASLERE - R=F—LF/\A=1H &
B AT — D IEEA RS AT e - 3
ERPEEMFE—E-AF\A=1T—"H &

LS TE - HEFBIT -

() ERAMLYE - BIEC R REMN 2
B

(i) FH - FAMHETE  PESELKL
BH9FE &k

(il fEFAMES - R RO R R MNP
32 TR A R R

ERAITERERME - BRE R&ERME26
Pl EEAFENRECRBRAAREA
10,000,000/ 7T + ZBRAEE A B HIEW - 1ERE
SEIMAN RIS E £ ARG - SRR
SASE R ARAR R A EE R B E A A BRI A
TR SEEIEL HRZE (K 5E39(b)) R AR F#E/EF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FA{JHEFRIE

2018
—T-N\F
HK$’'000
T4
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—HA—H 436,748
Addition NE 101,067
Exchange adjustments T W % (15,245)
Charge for the year RFEEZH (10,916)
At 31 December 2018 R_ZT—N\F+_A=+—~H 511,654
2018
—ZT—-N\F
HK$’'000
T

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HIMEDTT -
Current assets MENEE 10,004
Non-current assets ERBEE 501,650
511,654

Prepaid lease payments has been reclassified to right-of-use assets ENHEERERZE—NF—A—B#H
on adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. MBS RIRERE16HE D EN D

BEERAREE -

‘ —E-NEFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR 17. BRAVEFABEZZRE
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS mIH
2018
—E-AF —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: BAFERABEZ
SREE :
Listed securities listed in Hong Kong REE Tz &S 381,534 284,776
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MIMESWT -
— Current assets —RBEE 5,442 -
— Non-current assets —JEMENE E 376,092 284,776
At 31 December 2019, the fair values of the listed securities held by RZZE-NF+ZA=+—1H  ~5H
the Group, determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices REMNLmERFZ A TFEKEL2ENS
available, amounted to HK$381,534,000 (2018: HK$284,776,000). MIBHMEE T ) £381,534,000%8 7T (=

T — \£ : 284,776,000/87T) °

18. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE  18. %Q\SIZ{EE‘UK,HJHJ%E

32 32
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE mZERTE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$’000

THERT FAET

Unlisted equity investments at fair value: JELEMERKRE - BATFE
— private equity investments in Hong Kong (Note) ~ —E&B 2 ALEEFIRE

(PfaE) 6,918 8,124
Note:  The amount represents the 19.67% (2018: 19.67%) interest in a private MisE :  ZermEER —EREBE LS MK
entity incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is engaged in the SNZAEEEEZ19.67%(ZF—\F ¢
property development business in Hong Kong. The private entity is held by 10.67% 3K - ZALEBRNEENRE
the Group and other investment funds, and it currently holds a commercial MEERER - ARBREMKERES
mix office building situated in Hong Kong. The private entity further held BAZALEERE  HIRRES RN
around 20% of interest of the building project thus the Group effectively BEZEXERBTIERNE - LEBEHE
participated 4.7% of the property. BHZAEEB20%MEz « AL AEER

BREAZYENLT%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
19. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 19. AT EFTAEMEZH
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE WmzERITAE
INCOME
—ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET BT
Listed bond securities, at fair value: EWEHES  RAFE
— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued by — BB LEMEITAETIR
listed issuers in Hong Kong with fixed coupon B ET - BEFER
interests 9.85% per annum and maturity date 0.85EZEERE ' I
on 26 November 2020 RZEZFF+—H
—+/NHEIH 791,630 797,706

- listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers in - — & _E 1T AZITIHR

Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests ranging FIRFrET AFEER
from 4.75% to 8.875% per annum and maturity N F4.75/2E8.8752
date from 29 March 2020 to 27 January 2024 ZETES >  WRZE
—TE=AZ+NHAZE
—TomMFE-A=++t
A EI8 3,559,196 5,336,953
4,350,826 6,134,659
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MIMESTOT -
— Current assets —REEE 791,630 -
- Non-current assets —FRBEE 3,559,196 6,134,659
4,350,826 6,134,659
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair values of the listed bond RZE-NFR-_Z-NF+-A
securities are determined by reference to the valuation provided by =+—HB  \BRMRZEREMS - L
the pricing vendor based on its own valuation techniques because of EBEFNATELEEEEAREBER
lack of an active market. FHHERMATSEEEE °
Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts BRAVEFAEMEE S 2 EETE
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the BETIASEEEBER 2 NEEEEL
group entities in which they are held: SNEEEEHE 2 R ¢

2019 2018
—g-nE  —F)\F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TATT

United States Dollar (US$) ET 4,350,826 6,134,659

—T-NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

20.

PR AR M

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

20. FREEE

Leasehold Office
land properties Total
Mt BAEYE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2019 R-ZZE-NE—HA—H
Carrying amount BREE 511,654 1,635 513,289
As at 31 December 2019 R-E—-NAF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 571,593 1,418 573,011
For the year ended BE-_Z—N&F
31 December 2019 TZA=t+—HLEEFEE
Depreciation for the year KEZHE 11,228 558 11,786
Expense relating to short-term leases  £352 BiFH & & #0 B 5 #1447 A
and other leases with lease terms BB RRAERIE 165
end within 12 months of the date & HR12E A AEmAY
of initial application of HKFRS 16 HiHERRENRMS 339
Total cash outflow for leases HERS LB 79,823
Additions to right-of-use assets FHREEENE 87,211

The Group leases various leasehold land and office properties for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year
to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
properties. As at 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$1,450,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$1,418,000 as at 31 December
2019. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting period:

EEHEERERABRLF

IEFERIH

THRARRERHEBTEREHMEANE
WeR2 + BRATBUAR (B DA R
2 B

Fair value
change of
investment Revaluation
properties of properties Others Total
REMEZ
AR EEE YEEML Hith &%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET THERT FHET
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—H—H (9,577) (79,493) 3,116 (85,954)
Credit to consolidated FFARAERE
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 918 3,975
At 31 December 2018 R-ZT—N\F
+=—A=+—H 9,577) (76,4306) 4,034 (81,979)
Credit to consolidated BN = -tar.
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 909 3,966
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF
+=—A=+—H 9,577) (73,379 4,943 (78,013)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

VAT 8051 73 54 75 B i 1 A B 2 R SE A IR
BRI

2019 2018

—E—-hE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FHBT
Deferred tax assets FEIER IR E B 3,076 3,627
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE (81,089) (85,506)
(78,013) (81,979)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$168,131,000 (2018: HK$104,763,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax
losses will be expired gradually within five years to year 2024 (2018:
year 2023).

REHEERER - AEETH
BIARK Mz ABEHEREIEA
#9168,131,000 B T (=T — N\ &F
104,763,000 7T ) © F R R A F i
TAFEA - B R IRERIBE
E-2PREBESERATFRNELE
BEE-_T_NF(ZE—\F: =%
=)o

“E-NEFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRME
22. GOODWILL 22. BE
HK$’'000
THT
CARRYING VALUE BREME
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and R=E—\F—HF—H"
31 December 2019 —E-N\E+-A=+—8K
—E-NE+=-A=+—H 238
A
23. INVENTORIES 23. &&
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET BT
Raw materials B 915,236 775,027
Work in progress EEE 427,948 398,193
Finished goods BIRY Gh 475,507 537,283
1,818,691 1,710,503

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 ‘



161

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24,
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES

EEHEERERABRLF

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Trade receivables B SRR 4,222 258 3,758,054
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (603,257) (464,486)
Trade receivables, net FE W SR IE F 58 3,619,001 3,293,568
Advance to suppliers TERHE FER IR 203,997 364,380
Prepaid expenses and deposits AR RiEe 112,547 278,070
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable AR EEER ([1EER ) 208,155 162,933
Other receivables H b pE U BR X 92,956 145,214
4,236,656 4,244,165

Bills receivables FEWER 2,844,205 2,944,491
7,080,861 7,188,656

As at January 2018, the gross amount of trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$4,466,621,000 with
allowance for credit losses of HK$431,807,000.

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2018: 120 days),
depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The following
is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit
losses based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

RZE—N\F—HA—8 KAEF
EHNESREEREELEAS
4,466,621,0008 70 - EEEEBER
431,807,000/ 7T °

KAEEGTESEFPZEENGRRA
1208 (=ZF—/\%F : 1208) » BITFTEH
EERME - RFEHELERER &£
MR EEEBERER  EHRUERZ
BRIRENEZAHIHOT

2019 2018
—g-h&E  —F\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET T
0-90 days 0Z90H 2,664,212 2,228,048
91-180 days 91£180H 912,064 1,007,284
Over 180 days 180H M E 42,725 58,236
3,619,001 3,293,568

—E-NFEFER
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 0-90 days (2018:
0-90 days) since invoice date at the end of the reporting period. All
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one

year.

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$592,478,000 (2018: HK$542,619,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$71,914,000
(2018: HK$58,236,000) which has been past due over 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default based on good repayment
records for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral

over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and
bills receivables for these year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

are set out in note 36(b).

Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

Uss$ eV
HK$ BIT

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

-k

L {th F& UK BR FX
IR EWER )

24. EF5 R
SEANEN

N
s
O
7

/
\

-

O

RS IR - AR EEREE 2 Rk
BEZEAHBIT0ZEA (ZE—N\F :
0F90RH)Z N - AEEEWNETEREE
HR—FRNEE -

RZZBE-—NF+ZA=+—0 ' £5H
B ZREBEFESBENREBHE
i60 2 B BR T8 48 {8 592,478,000 7T (=
T — \4F : 542,619,000 7T ) K & UK
BRR o MHEIGERE F - 71,914,000/ 7T
(=ZZF—/)\F : 58,236,000/ L) B i1 H3
QR L - ERIEZEREFPRITHE
FEOEk - MBS KRG BEY - A&
B Ep 2 S EGSE ERG -

BHEZZ—NFERZZE-N\F+=ZA
=1+—RILFE 5 KAEMBKER
LA K W SR AR )R (B AT A R B A B o
36(b) °

B o NEMEWRR R EERERET
SN EERBER WREE R AINE

FTEZ R -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —Z=—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
193,376 201,052
368,695 399,765
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25. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 25, 5% REY%

Movements of properties held for development are as follows:

FREMEZEHNT

HK$'000
FTAT

At 1 January 2018 RZZE—\F—H—H 4,100,658
Exchange adjustments T W % (119,825)
Additions NE 123,651

Transfer to cost of sales R HEM AR (1,969,818)

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

RZZBE-NF+A=+—8RK

—E-hF—A—H 2,134,666
Exchange adjustments TE H F% (39,225)
Additions NE 268,509
Transfer to cost of sales EEHERA (696,956)
At 31 December 2019 N-E—-NEFE+-_A=1+—8 1,666,994

Analysis of leasehold lands included in properties held for 5 A 2R ¥ MFAL + b8

development is set out below: DITEAT
As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-NF—A—H
Carrying amount BREE 1,172,559
As at 31 December 2019 R-FE-hAFE+=A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 840,666
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLEFE
Total cash outflow R dess 16,514
Additions NE 16,514

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC with medium-
term leases and are stated at cost at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all the properties are still under
development.

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold
lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2019.

Properties held for development with carrying amount of
approximately HK$696,956,000 (2018: HK$1,969,818,000) were
completed and sold to third parties. The remaining balance as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 was related to properties that were still

under development.

FERMEMRUARBREAORENHER
T WRZF-NEFERZT—N\F
+TZA=Z+—BUKATER H=F
—hWErRZZEZ-—N\F+ZA=+—H8"
FREMZENRFER -

BE-ZT—NF—A—B# A0t
IREERERE SV RREFE1651%
FRASBE R 25T 8 RATRE BT
£ o MERBO T EREN 2 HEH
EEEETE - K AZE—NF+=A
=T —BHHESRE  TERBEL L
FHRITE -

BREIE#) 5696,956,000/8 7L( —ZF— N\
1 1,969,818,000/870) 2 R E
EMIIHEFE=H - R-E—NE
F—E-NF+_A=t+—HZ#%EEHE
IFEEYERH -

—T-NEEH
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25. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 25. % EY% )
(continued)
In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development EERRTERVENERRDEE -
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for sale TR ERERNESEERY 58
upon completion of construction within the Group’s normal operating ZEVENBNANIRERIRHE -
cycle.
26. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 26. HtREHEE
In the prior year, this represented inventories licenced to the Licencee FE - BT REREA (RMF15)6E
(see Note 15). Under the licencing agreement, the Licencee may RMFE « RIBRERE RS - R
use, consume and dispose of the licenced inventories which ARMER - ARHEREEAFE
include consumables and stocks in trade. However, the Licencee ETRESIREMRESHTE - A K
was required to replace and return the quantities of the licenced BREGCAIERE  BERAAERRE
inventories used, consumed or disposed of during the licenced period AEERREREEERSHECER -
to the Licensor at the end of the licence period. HAHENRETRTFEHE -
The licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed during the AR ARG - BANHE 2K
licenced period were secured by cash and bills receivables of a HERTFEREREA—Z@E T 21
related party of the Licencee, with a total receivable value of not T REERFEEERR - TERETD
less than the value of the licenced inventories used, consumed or REHRAEREBE-ER - FA%EH
disposed of as at the end of the reporting period. EREERFEEZEE -
The licence agreement between the Licensor and the Licencee had R N B AT S R AL R R
been expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered any ER-ZZ-NFEA-BER  BEA
letter of extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend the I B SRR AR M A\ BT SLAE A S AE R T B PA
licenced period. Accordingly, the other current assets have been JERZEEABE - B - EtRBE
reclassified as inventories. EEENSBEATE -
27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW  27. g%tlﬂz () BRKE 2 E]
SUBSIDIARIES FRIE
2019 2018
—B-hE —ZT)\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FRT FHIT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUS B 2 M |88 & RIRIA
— trade nature, neither past due nor impaired —Bo5M4E - EafizimE 424,684 58,158
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales
to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are non-interest bearing,
unsecured and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
— trade nature, neither past due nor impaired

27.

F& 1~ ] 2 Y /88 2 R 300R
—E514E - EaisEE

EEHEERERABRLF

BUW(F)RZRKNE QA

FRIE ()

AEBBRIBEELRTERRMNBARZE
BEH—MEREA1208 - ZEEUFA
AR S RERR - HIRERY AWREEE
HEREHRMNOEZA -

2019
—E-NF

2018
—TN\E
HK$'000
FET

HK$’000
FET

47,203 48,378

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less
than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group. At 31
December 2019, the Group’s bank balances carry interest at the
prevailing market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 0.9%
(2018: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had bank balances and cash that
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$2,251,837,000 (2018:
HK$1,502,787,000).

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

28.

JE AR 2 P B8 1% RS0 IE 2 B AR HR 130
B ZERNRB/RERERT X
RIS HREAERE HE2MN0AZ
A o

RITEHREAE

BITEHRERCBEELAEEREZE
t o RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H =K
EEBRITHEBIZRBITMBFERNENT
0.01EZE0IE(ZZ—\F : 001EZE
0.9E)FHE °

R-ZE—-hAE+-_A=+—0H &K
EEATATERARLBRRAZHEINIE
ERIFMBRRZRITEHRLIR SN A
2,251,837,000 B L (=& — N\ F
1,502,787,00078 7T ) °

RITREBIRSBRE TIAEEERA
2B ER AN G EEHEZ AR

2019 2018
—E-hF —E—N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FABT

Us$ E7T 228,707 420,395
HK$ 7T 407,691 1,318,613
GBP BigE 13,946 13,576
“E-NFFER
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 2. BEERHMENERR
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT ENEERENEAR
LIABILITIES

BEEREMENRRREGRE

Trade and other payables and bills payables

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHT

Trade payables B 5 REMERR 1,231,111 1,284,816

Accrued expenses JEIRE A 510,884 418,684
Payables for acquisition of properties, plant and BEWE  BEMREZ

equipment FEIFERRK 142,351 63,111

Other tax payables HAFENTLIA 528,770 637,737

VAT payables FERIZ(ET 174,312 154,686

LAT payables FEAT + 48 (E R 182,863 457,990

Other payables E b FETRR R 149,991 178,752

2,920,282 3,195,776

Bills payables (Note) FERT SR (I 3E) 272,604 248,352

3,192,886 3,444,128

Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2019 was payables for
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment of HK$1,379,000 (2018:

HK$51,151,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

Mizx: RZT—h&F+=ZA=+—8 EH
ZEH1E1,379,0008 (=T —/\F :
51,151,000/ 7C) A EWHE - BE X

R RER TR o

B RN RFIREE R AR &S HRE

RERERZREOITT -

2019 2018

—2-N%F —E)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET THT

0-90 days 0%90H 1,172,366 1,178,684
91-180 days 91%180H 20,682 49,192
Over 180 days 1808 A 38,063 56,940
1,231,111 1,284,816
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 20 B REMENERR
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT EREEREHNER -
LIABILITIES (continueq)

EZRHAMENRRARENRE
€
BEEROTFHEEHAROA(=ZF
—/\% : 90H) - KAEEBRITHH B,
B IR B REAR A A PR OB B B
FRAEH -

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2018: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2018: 90 days) REBFENER 2 RRD AR E AR

at the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

REMOH(ZZE—N\F : 0H)ZA °

BHREMENERMENRERRET
SR EERHRR 2 R AINES
sHEZHER

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZT—-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT T

us$ ETT 437,066 523,941

HK$ BT 18,400 23,817

Japanese Yen (“JPY”) H 9,209 15,936
Contract liabilities EHEE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$’'000

TR FET

Sales of properties SHEMHE 117,452 941,797
Sales of glass epoxy laminates, SHEREQW B EERER

paper laminates and upstream materials B E AR K Lkt 71,598 107,274

189,050 1,049,071

RZF-NF—A—H AHAES
3,595,883,000/8 7T °

As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$3,595,883,000.

RZZE-NER-ZZE-NE+=-A
=t+—H8 HEVENGHNERET
SHEEHERREPREF —FEE
BWeRZE-—NEFRZZE-N\F+=A
—t+—B HEREWEHEERE
iR~ MERER R EBEDRNENEE
MEBEBERREPRET —FRE
iﬁo

‘ —T-NEEH

Certain amount of contract liabilities arising from sales of properties
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, are expected to be realised after
one year at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of
contract liabilities arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper
laminates and upstream materials as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, are expected to be realised within one year at the end of the
reporting period.
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 2. ESRHMESIRAR
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT FE=
LIABILITIES (continueq)

S8
S
X
o
iy
i

Contract liabilities (continued) BEREEE

The following table sets out the revenue recognised in the current AEEHR-_Z—N\F+-_A=+—HK
year relating to contract liabilities at 31 December 2018 and 1 January —ZE-NF-A—HNAEHABERERN
2018. EEFEHIINT

Sales of glass
epoxy laminates,
paper laminates

and upstream Sales of
materials properties
SHEREWE
HEFEEmAR
A AR R
Eist SHEWE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z—N&
+TZA=t—HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the HAZE—-N\E
contract liability balance at 31 December 2018  +=—A=+—H&4
BEABNCHERESEE 107,274 941,797
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z-N\&
+TZHA=Z+—HLFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the HFAZE—NEFE
contract liability balance at 1 January 2018 —A—B&YaiE
DRSS 153,634 3,270,473
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

° Sales of properties

The Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

o Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream
materials

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

29.

EEHEERERABRLF

BREE®E)
AR RIEKHERRANANAESHE
pEZ YINE

. HEME

REBRAT I MEEE AR [
EPREEEREKEEI0%E
50%MiLE - WtEFESHER
)R HIRE RTUCERER T A 403K
B o B RN IR SIEHE
BYEEEPHERA0aE
BEEFPIGRTMENZEGIE
ALk

AN AEERR - ANRER
EEAEARENSD - At - K
BeREEEEREEERNE
BRI FORR EERNZEEN
SR o I ES FUIRIE INE
RNEHABEDE  ERTYE
Mt REBEERPRINEME
RHEXEDE -

o HEREAREEAERER - &
BRI B LR

AR B EE BB A BT CER
e WERANRRRERS
NEE BEEEEZEWITHIE
(BRI EY 2 W) R R E %58
Bl o NEBBERNAEREET
BRFUEIB0% E50% L% -

B NEER
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEARE
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FET
Lease liabilities payable: EAHEERE
Within one year —FR 549
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BB E
but not more than two years 4
Within a period of more than two years RF A FBT BB R F
but not more than five years 16
Within a period of more than five years BBERF 881
1,450
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown & : JRB) B &R 1218 A R EIEf
under current liabilities EENSR (549)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under ~ 3ERBIB B TR12(E R A3 B4 ZE R S5
non-current liabilities 901
No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements NEBRT AR ES S E
entered by the Group. The weighted average incremental borrowing HEEE - AASEERERNINET
rates applied by the relevant group entities range from 2.56% to BB EEFENT2.66EE4.75F -
4.75%. These lease liabilities were measured at the present value of ZEMEGBREMAINHENZNE
the lease payments that are not yet paid. B5tE -
Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies which are same HESEUNRAREETEIEEEE
as the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. EMEETIE -
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/= [t 1
31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. RITEE
2019 2018
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Unsecured R4 4
Bank loans RITE K 2,609,423 5,842,500
Trust receipt loans EFEUURE R 335,841 -
2,945,264 5,842,500
Carrying amount repayable*: AR THIEAE(EE 2 BRE(E™
Within one year —FR 1,268,918 1,083,077
More than one year, but not more than two years ~ —%E A _F{ETBBME 933,077 933,077
More than two years but not more than three years A H{E BB =4 740,769 933,077
More than three years but not more than five years =4 _F{ET BB R E 2,500 2,938,269
More than five years AF L - 5,000
2,945,264 5,842,500
The carrying amounts of bank loans that B 75 ZE A BB (B R O 1550 A0
contain a repayment on demand clause RITEERAEG ARE
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: BE)EERATHMES
Within one year —F R 10,000 10,000
More than one year, but not more than two years ~ —%E A _F{E T BB E 10,000 10,000
More than two years but not more than three years LA _F{E BB =4 10,000 10,000
More than three years but not more than five years =4 F{ET BB R E 2,500 12,500
More than five years AF = -
32,500 42,500
Carrying amount repayable within one year WM B BN ERREERD
without repayment on demand clause BRER —FAERND
FRMEE 1,258,918 1,023,077
Amounts due within one year shown R—FRREZRIE - 5 A
under current liabilities mEIAE 1,291,418 1,065,577
Add: Amounts shown under non-current m: y A ERSAaE A
liabilities 1,653,846 4,776,923
2,945,264 5,842,500
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the * HE SR HENEEE R ZANNETER A S

respective loan agreements, except certain amount of bank revolving loan
amounting to HK$2,200,000,000 originally scheduled to settle in March

2022, was early repaid in 2019.

7R - 1A %02,200,000,0008 TRIEER -F
Z = BEENE TRITAUBRESRRENR
ZEAFEERIN

“E-NEFFR
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mEMBRRME
4= ji
31. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 31. ﬁE'fT'fE E(%)
As at 31 December 2019, the bank borrowings are all variable-rate RZZ—hF+-_A=+—8 " Ri7E
borrowings which carry interest ranging from Hong Kong Inter-Bank E2AZREE  FEENFEFBR
Offer Rate (“HIBOR”) + 1.02% to HIBOR + 1.5% (2018: HIBOR + TREREI.EEZFBRITRER
1.02% to HIBOR + 1.5%) per annum. BIMBE(ZZE—NF : EBRITAZE
P2 .02E=FERITRIZEIEN.5
E)TE -
The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to REFIRTEEZERMER(TERE
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 2.02% HFER)EENFFFE2.02EZE417
t0 4.17% (2018: 1.75% to 3.74%) per annum. [E(=ZZ—)\F 1.75BE3.74[B )15 -
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated RITEEBRETIAEEEREE T
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities REEHAINE A 25 -

to which they relate:

2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T THT
HK$ BT 2,945,264 5,842,500
32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. 7
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE ERITRAR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BHEE it ] B8 E ot |
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
T % FERT T B FET
Ordinary shares of BREEA0BITZ
HK$0.10 each: LA
At 1 January 2018, RZZE—N\F—A
31 December 2018, —B T N\&F
1 January 2019 and +=-A=+—H"
31 December 2019 “E-NF-A—HK
—ZE-NF
+=—A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,081,000 308,100
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33. SPECIAL RESERVE

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the reduction in the registered

capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.

34. SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of KLHL (“2017 KLHL Scheme”) was
approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 29
May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining
approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on
2 November 2017. The purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme is
to provide incentive or reward to the eligible participants of the
2017 KLHL Scheme (as listed below) for their contribution to, and

continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

The 2017 KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years. The Board
may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for shares in the
Company to (i) eligible participants who contribute to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Company and include any employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time and including
any executive director), consultants or advisers of or to the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which the
Group holds an equity interest; (ii) any non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i) any supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any

member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

The subscription price of the Company’s share in respect of any
option granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of

the shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTlONS (continued)

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the Shareholders and
the Shareholders of KHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares of the Company,
representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report).

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in issue
unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of KHL in
general meetings.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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34. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 34. {%%Eﬁﬂﬁ*&(f‘é)

A summary of the movements of the number of share options under
the scheme for the year is as follows:

BT -

Exercise
price per share  Exercisable period

Balance at Granted Balance at
DEICIEED S 1 January 2019 during the year 31 December 2019
W=B-hE
R=%-1§ tZR=t-HZ2
REAS -R-Rz&& WEEERY &
Granted to the Directors
3 April 2019 - 26,200,000 26,200,000
RTEZ
“Z-NENAZH
Granted to employees
3 April 2019 - 12,800,000 12,800,000
RTER
“Z-NENAZH
- 39,000,000 39,000,000
Exercisable at
31 December 2019 39,000,000
RUTHET TR
“FNFTA=T-A
Note:
(i) All share options were vested immediately on the date of grant, 3 April
2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, options were granted on 3
April 2019. The estimated fair values of the options granted on those
dates are HK$96,609,000.

BROKE 768

HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to 2 April 2029 (Note )
8.39B7T
“Z-NENEZRZE
ZZZNEMAZA ()

HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to 2 April 2029 (Note )
8.39B7T
“Z-NEFNEZRE
ZZ-NEMAZA ()

() FrEEEmBRENRE AT —NEF
A= H BN -

HE-_Z-—NAF+_A=+—HItF
g BEERER -_E-AEFNA=R
B o Rz B IR B LB E 2 5t
A B 596,609,000 7T °

—T-NEEH
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34. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 34. BERBREs

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

AFERA B HE o
BB AT

Share price at grant date i A HARRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility TEEAS R
Expected life TEERE E R
Risk-free rate 2 ) P 1 R
Expected dividend vield TEEAR B &
Early exercise multiple RAITTHEREE

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$96,609,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil) in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 .

2019

—B—hiF
Directors Employees
= 1=
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.3978 T 8.3978 T
HK$8.39 HK$8.39
8.3978 T 8.3978 T
42.40% 42.40%
10 years 10 years
105 105
1.67% 1.67%
6.26% 6.26%
2.8x 2.2x
2.8f% 2.21%

FEHREORE AR ARENBE T4
ZESLRIEETE HFEREEEMRE
T BAPZEHAMEHEREER
PR A TSR ITERGIRTR
EERRARIZEMBRPE -

BE-_T-NAF+-_A=+—HBIF
B AEERAQRBRENELER
HEHE R R S 48 %896,609,0008 T (==
—N\F E)

ZHEEAEARFEECBERERT
B sEEEBREATEZZEH MR
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EEERELTIBERRZEHRTRME
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, other reserves and
retained profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as

well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

35.
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FEMBHmRME
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. €T H
(@) Categories of financial instruments @ SWMITAEHR
THE GROUP
AEE

2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHBT

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost WHEK AT ENESRERE 9,888,963 10,244,556
Equity instruments at FVTPL BRATEFABRNERTE 381,534 284,776

Equity instruments at FVTOCI R AFERT A EAD
2HWRERTA 6,918 8,124
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFERAEM

2ER=EMEBIE 4,350,826 6,134,659
14,628,241 16,672,115

Financial liabilities -l =R

Amortised cost BHAA
— trade and other payables — B 5 MHEMERERR 1,523,453 1,626,679
— bills payables —ENER 272,604 248,352
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries —ERR RN B A TRIE 47,203 48,378
— bank borrowings —RITEE 2,945,264 5,842,500
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,450 _
4,789,974 7,665,909
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 8% (2018: 8%) of the Group’s
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities making the sale, whilst
almost 11% (2018: 9%) of purchases are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. £ T H

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEERBREEREEEREE
policies (continued) (#8)
Market risk (continued) TSR (E)
Currency risk (continued) EiE g ()
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign AEEFEmMEET - Bt - &
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following table TLRHESGHINERBREK - T&
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase HllAEEHSEBEEIEE
and decrease in functional currency of respective group e SRR INE A 5% (—ZE—\
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the F 5% )RR - TEREDE
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective B AEBTNSEBERIAET
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since SHEM AR ER - BB TE
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that such T KRRIEEZAAER
exposures are not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5% BRI REK - 5%(ZZF— N\
(2018: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the F  5%) T E 1R /N FE = Al
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The B IR 2 BB E RS - S
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency E R ERIE AR H AINES|
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at ENEEIEE » HERESMAER
the end of reporting period for a 5% (2018: 5%) change in A2 MEER5%(—F— \F :
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade 5%)EEIER IR - FRRED
and other receivables, bills receivables, bank balances, trade WEREES N EMEWRERR - &
and other payables, bills payables and bank borrowings. A R - RITHEBR IR 5
positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit REAMEMIRR - BAZE RIR
for the year where functional currency of each Group entity IEE - EEIES SEEEND
strengthen 5% (2018: 5%) against the relevant currency. For e B HABEINEAES R (=T
a 5% (2018: 5%) weakening of functional currency of each — N\ : 5%)B - KFEERFE
Group entity against the relevant currency, there would be an SERETIEN - EREETEN
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year. Thae &M H R INERZES% (=
T—\F : 5% - ATREEAE
ERBEHEMNERSHERE
2o
2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FET
Uss E7T 590 (3,987)
JPY = 363 652
HK$ BIT 73,011 169,606
GBP e (550) (555)
In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is BERA  ARFRERRIT TR
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year BRI - iBURE DT E
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the BRINER BT S WERRKME
year.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest and fixed-
rate lease liabilities (see Note 19 for details of these listed
bond securities and Note 30 for details of lease liabilities). The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings and
debt instruments at FVTOCI at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2018:
50 basis points) increase or 50 basis points (2018: 10 basis
points) decrease are used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis
as the directors of the Company consider that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would decrease by approximately HK$12,296,000
(2018: HK$24,392,000) as a result of the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
borrowings; and

ERIH
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

the investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2019 would decrease by approximately
HK$42,755,000 (2018: HK$86,158,000) mainly
as a result of the changes in the fair value of debt
instruments at FVTOCI with fixed coupon interest.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2018: 10 basis
points) lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would increase by approximately HK$12,296,000
(2018: HK$4,878,000) as result of the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
borrowings; and

the investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2019 would increase by approximately
HK$42,755,000 (2018: HK$17,444,600) mainly
as a result of the changes in the fair value of debt
instruments at FVTOCI with fixed coupon interests.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the

year.

36. ﬁ%ﬂIﬂ“
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk and debt price
risk through its investments in equity instruments at FVTPL
and FVTOCI and debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity
securities measured at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange,
the management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition, the
Group also invested in certain unquoted equity securities for
investees operating in property industry sector for long term
strategic purposes. The Group has appointed a special team
to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been
10% (2018: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December 2019 would increase/decrease by
HK$31,858,000 (2018: increase/decrease by HK$23,289,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value of equity instruments at
FVTPL.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been
10% (2018: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation
reserve for the year ended 31 December 2019 would
increase/decrease by HK$692,000 (2018: increase/decrease
by HK$812,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity instruments at FVTOCI.

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2018: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2019 would increase/
decrease by HK$435,083,000 (2018: increase/decrease by
HK$613,466,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
debt instruments at FVTOCI.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other for monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix.

The credit risk in relation to bank balances is considered
minimal as such amounts are placed with banks with good
credit ratings and there is no significant concentration of credit
risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade and other receivables with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers. However, the Group
is exposed to the concentration on geographic segment in
PRC. At 31 December 2019, approximately 87% (2018: 88%)
of the Group’s trade and other receivables are arising from
PRC.
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£ET A

(b)

i

BEERBREEEERRE
(#)

FERRKRERE

WX B R E PRARBEEITHR
ERBBCHEREREE 2K
& ARKERAAZ Z&ESEE
R IR B TSR R P %
FEERAEE -

AEEERREERK  EFC
%ﬁaﬁﬁ%fﬂJ@%@%‘
RETEERBETEESIL

EEEH R EMEERERF - UE
REBUBE R EE AR 2
B - Bt E - ARAEER
5 AEBZEERBREANER
1K o tbdh - AEEREHEES

BEARE SERE R IARER
B ERE R ©

RTINS B TR
RIFZT MREREZ R
ERBHTRE - AEEEAE
B AR -

KEIEHETEQJZE%&E
YRR E SRR - ERARZ
B3P REFD ﬁ&”‘ﬁﬁ$
EIE’JHA PR MR 5
*B CRIB-NFT A=t

$§%l%’]87%(_§—)\
i : 88%) 2 B 5 M A AL UK
FKRETE -



185

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade
receivables.

Directors assessed the expected loss on trade receivables
individually or based on provision matrix by estimation
based on historical credit loss experience, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

Collective assessments

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2019 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying
amounts of HK$304,694,000 (2018: HK$202,732,000)
were assessed individually. Credit-impaired debtors are fully
provided for ECL.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

36. ﬁ%ﬂIg\‘ﬁ;:«iﬁ}

(b)

BEERBREEEERRE
(#)

FERRKBERE(E)
REBEABLITE - KEBH
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EERERE  EATHES
FEM R ER A 2 TR R
e

EZRARBBAEIEEBRK
% BEHARERETEN R
BRI - ARENIRE B2
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TEERI R SAR BB AR [ AT
i e
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AEEHEFEARNBEEF
T AEAREEEERBRERER
—EH o TREHEBE=ZZ—N
F+-A=+—RHEHR2HEH
EEEE 2 BEEREE T
ZHEWEFEERRE R (&
EERME) - EERERKIRR
#A B T8 18.304,694,00058 7T ( —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. ﬁﬁﬂl ;E's(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HMERMBEEEERBEXR
policies (continued) (88)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBRREEFE(E)
Collective assessments (continued) EpeiTs ()
For the year ended 31 December 2019: HE-ZE-NF+-A=+—H
\HERE -
Gross trade Range of Trade
Internal credit rating and receivables loss rates ECL receivables
EZEK 5L B2
IR BEZEE FERE FEUMRERSR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET TET
Low risk it 1,974,138 1% - 2.5% 37,092 1,937,046
Watch list ERYE 1,843,696 5% -15% 230,222 1,613,474
Doubtful RER 99,730 30% - 35% 31,249 68,481
3,917,564 298,563 3,619,001
For the year ended 31 December 2018: HEZT-\F+=ZA=+—H
IEFE -
Gross trade Range of Trade
Internal credit rating and receivables loss rates ECL receivables
B oW B B85
g ERXE[E FEEE RN AR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
Low risk {ligENA 2,203,594 1% -2.5% 49,398 2,154,196
Watch list ERyE 1,288,445 5% - 15% 191,424 1,097,021
Doubtful xR 63,283 30% - 35% 20,932 42,351
3,555,322 261,754 3,293,568
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €RIT B
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HBEBEEESEREE
policies (continued) (88)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FERBREENE(E)
Collective assessments (continued) i (E)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises AEBEABEERETRTEE
the following categories: EAT S
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEMEERTAR EEEpul B 5 MR Hih ot & E
Low risk The counterparty has low risk of Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
default — non credit-impaired
[ME = f | RS TENRERE 2 EFEEEEISIE 1218 A e Bl E B &8
—EEERE
Watch list Doubtful debtors frequently repay Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
after due dates but usually settle — not credit-impaired
in full
[EERAE BEENEFRNEBALER 2 EFEEEEIEE 1218 A e HiE B & 18
FEAHREERIE - BE@E ] —EEERE
2HIEHE
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
increases in credit risk since initial — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired

recognition through information
developed internally or external

resources
[ RAE BIBAEDER SN E JRIEEREY > HEHEEEE EHIEREREEE
AERBREERR B TR —BEERE —EERERE
VATRERZE ETT
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
asset is credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
[ ERBBRRNEERREERE > HEHEEEE EHIEMREREE
—hREERE —HREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off

the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
[ s | FEBEREBABABREV R - SRR S SRR M
BZRS B m T RS W e )8

‘ —T-NEEH
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. £ T H

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEREEEEREX
policies (continued) €
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EER M ERETG(E)
Collective assessments (continued) BRI (E)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical fEEHEIB R HER EW IR TEE]
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors FHORSERMEBENERMG
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is =t WHES N H B AR
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is NENATS A AT IE 1 & RHE L 8
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant 2 .BEHETHEMSOE U
information about specific debtors is updated. ERERETEKEERNIERE
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that TREREEEERRES
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified YRR 2 BT EEEIE
approach. BHE) o
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HATEH
ZHTEH EEEE
EEEE (HBREE
(BEERE) WE) et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+ZA=+—
under HKAS 39 and as at BiREE SR
1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 £395E R AT — /\4F
—A—AREEEYH
FR R AERI B 95 - 431,807 431,807
Net impairment losses recognised  #32 (# 8] )R E & B
(reversal) FEE 270,214 (218,531) 51,683
Exchange adjustments P& H F & (8,460) (10,544) (19,004)
As at 31 December 2018 and RZE—N\F+A
1 January 2019 —t+—Bk_ZE—hF
—H—H 261,754 202,732 464,486
Changes relating to trade RZE-NF—-—HA—AH
receivables recognised as at BERE FEWESRE
1 January 2019 ANED)
- Net impairment losses reversal ~ — & BF B &8 %58 (70,592) (13,548) (84,140)
New financial assets originated FRREEFeREE
during the year 114,656 121,622 236,278
Exchange adjustments iE 5 % (7,255) (6,112) (13,367)
As at 31 December 2019 R-T—N%E
+=—A=+—H 298,563 304,694 603,257
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables increased to 4,222,258,000 (2018:
HK$3,758,054,000) and allowance for credit losses increased
to HK$603,257,000 (2018: HK$464,486,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2019, the net impairment loss
recognised from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) was
HK$44,064,000 (2018: HK$270,214,000) and the net
impairment loss recognised from lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)
was HK$108,074,000 (2018: net impairment loss reversal of
HK$218,531,000) from lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), which
arose due to a general deterioration in the quality of the
Group’s trade receivables as compared to prior year.

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors has
considered the bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant.

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience and also
forward-looking information, as appropriate, for example, the
Group has considered the consistently low historical default
rate in connection with payments, and concluded that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

The Group only invests in debt securities with low credit risk.
The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly comprise
listed bonds that are graded “investment grade” as per
globally understood definitions and are considered by
management to be low credit risk investments. During the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil), the expected credit
losses on debt instruments at FVTOCI is insignificant.

ERIH

(b)

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

i

BEEREEEERBEK
(8&)

EERBRRRETRE(E)
B ()
RZE-—NEF+ZA=+—
H  B5REKERGKREMELE
£4,222,258,000/ L( —ZF—/)\
F : 3,758,054,000/87T) * 28
fE518 7 4% A1 3% 11 = 603,257,000
BIL(ZZF—)\4F : 464,486,000
BIL) cHE—Z—NF+=A
—t+t—BIEFE  R2HEH
FEEBE(EEERE) BRE
BB JE5 18 )% B8 /5 44,064,000 78
T =ZZ— )\4F : 270,214,000
BIT) c Mz BESEERE
(HBREERE) BROBRES
18 7% %8 /5 108,074,000 7T ( —
T—)\F  RAEBEFERD
218,531,000/ 7t) © AAEE
ZE SRR EREEZRA—F
ERECmES °
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

For amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in order to minimise
the credit risk, Directors continuously monitor the settlement
status and the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In the opinion of the
Directors, the risk of default by these counterparties is not
significant and the Group assessed that the ECL on these
balances are insignificant.

The Directors considers the bank balances that are deposited
with the financial institutions with good credit rating to be low
credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers the bank balances are short-term in nature and
the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
approximately HK$127,150,000 (2018: HK$320,824,000)
as at 31 December 2019. At the end of the reporting period,
the directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance
for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is
measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management
of the Group considers the probability of default is low and
accordingly, loss allowance was considered as insignificant.
Details of the financial guarantee contracts are set out in Note
39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The Directors monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants
during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. At 31 December 2019, the Group has
available unutilised bank borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$3,854,659,000 (2018: HK$2,349,379,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. ﬁﬁilﬂ(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HXEREEEERRE
policies (continued) €
Liquidity risk (continued) wEBESER(HE)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEE L RFIFERRZ
Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  Ondemand  but but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 2years 5years 5Syears  cash flows amount
B ]
] s CHE S KAk
HK$'000 HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000 HK$000
TR i TR TERL TR TR
At 31 December 2019 RE-AFt-F=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabiities 374+ 4REE
Trade and other payables BAREMERER - 1523483 - - - - 1523458 1523483
Bils payables EfZE - 272,604 - - - - 212,604 212,604
Amounts due to felow suosidiaries ~ ERRZMBARE - 47,208 - - - - 47,203 47,208
Bank borrowings #i7eg
- varigble rate -28 3.30 604,052 686,386 995,676 819,399 - 3105513 2,945,264
Lease libiltes BEEE 437 k7] 26 5 19 1,13 172 1,450
2,447,636 686,622 995,681 819,418 1139 495049 4,789,074
Financial quaranteg contracts HERAY - 1250 - - - - 127150 127,450
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €M TR

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HEERBREEEEREE
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRR(E)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

On demand
or less than
3 months

=
HK$ 000
ThT

it SEANE

Qver

3 months
but but not
more than
1year

i
HKS 000

QOver
1year
but not
more than
2 years

-4

RBE R RFEER R (E)

Over

2 years
but not
more than
5 years

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

RS

Qver
5 years

Camying
amount

EELF
HK$ 000

EEE

HKS 000
o

HK$'000
i

At 31 December 2018 R-E-NEt-f=1-R
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 2RERE
Trade and other payables B RENERE - 1526679 - - - - 156679 1526679
Bills payables EfiZE - 248,352 - - - - 248,352 248352
Amounts due to felow subsidiaries R RZNBAZFE - 48378 - - - - 48378 48378
Bank borrowings #i7eg

- Variable rate -%8 329 336,012 863,880 995,024 3925,184 - 6120600 5842500

2,159,421 863,880 995,024 3925,184 - 7944000 7,665,909

Finencial queranteg contracts HERAY - 084 - - - - 084 3084

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2019,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these
bank borrowings amounted to HK$32,500,000 (2018:
HK$42,500,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank
borrowings will be fully repaid after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
within four years as set out in the loan agreements. At that
time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will
amount to HK$33,676,000 (2018: HK$44,499,000).

WM BB - [HREREK
“@AR]—BEBEREER
EFEFEEMNIERMRITIEE -
RZE-NF+ZA=+—8"
LERITEENRTEAEE
8 532,500,000/8 T (ZZE— N\
4 1 42,500,000 70) © EHELK
ZRAEEMNTIEMREAE -
SRITHE TR AT RETTE L BB HE LA
EFHBER - EBREZER
TEEBRBEERIGRATE 2T
FRETERAHRHEIRE
EHES - B NS B LA
B IR & 18 A& 33,676,000 7
TO(=ZF— )\4F : 44,499,000/
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Fair value
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December higrarchy
tHEE WtZR=+-R2ATE AVERBAH
2019 2018
e
HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T
) Listed equity securiies classified 381,534 B4T76 1
as equity instruments at FVTPL
ARBRATE AR
ERTAY FiRAZ5
(i) Unlisted equity instruments classfied 6,918 814 3
as equity instruments at FVTOCI
ARBRLTE AL ARES
ERTAZEIPRRIE
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

()

Valuation
techniques
and key inputs

EERAR

EELIN

Quoted bid prices in
active market,

RETRMEEAR

Market approach. The
market approach was
used to determine the
valuation using price to
eamings (‘P/E') ratio of
selected comparable
listed companies in
similar business and
similar business model
and adjusted for the lack
of marketabilty

5« R
BRETEEHBRER
EAREnTER L
WA DRERR
[ TRz mERA
BmFHAE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. £ T H

SRMIANQAFETE

BEEEHEERATETEY
AEESMEEZATE

AEEBHSRMEENSRES
RS AR AT ESE - T&
FrEa R BRI XS R
BEZAHE(LEZAAGE
B R AZE)  UERAAT
EFEHAREZ TBRIZES
EMUATEFEFRESZA
TEEBERN(E—ZE=H) -

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TUBER\
HERATEZBE

Significant
unobservable inputs
ERFT
BEBARE

NA NA
TR TR
Thelack of marketabiity  The higher the lack of
discount and the P/E marketabilty discount,
ratio of selected the lower the fair value.
comparable companies
The higher the P/E ratio,
the higher the fair value.
BEMERBIAR  RETERALIEE
EEMENAATY  ATEHE-
(L
TREER  ATEY
#5-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €M TR

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) EBMIENATEIEE)
(continued)
Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are BREKEHEERATETEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued) rEESRMEEZATFEGE)
Valuation Relationship of
Fair value techniques Significant unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December higrarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
HERTR EXAT Ik =L
SREE RT-R=1-RZAYE AYERERA IZHAHE BzaNgE HERATEVER
2019
ZE-fE F\£
HKS$'000 HK$'000
T Tm
fii)  Listed bond securties classified 4,350,826 6,134659 3 Reference to the fair value  Thelack of marketabiity  The higher the lack of
as debt instruments at FVTOCH Quotedinthe overthe-  discount marketabiity discount,
counter market with the the lower the fair value.
adjustments for the lack
of marketabilty.
ABRRATEIARMRENEN ESIMEREZLT  HZTERANAN EFAL A EE
[BBTAZ ITERES & UnzmangE B DTEEE
GRS
Note:  For the debt instruments at FVTOCI, the most significant Mzt BMOBEARAFENAHE
unobservable input is the marketability discount. As at 31 EmRkENEBSITAM
December 2019, if the marketability discount to the valuation T REAMNTABERHA
model was 5% (2018: 5%) higher/lower and the other variables R AT S RBIENN - B
were held constant, the total carrying amount of these T -AF+ZA=+—
investments would decrease/increase by HK$217,541,000 and A WEEEXHTSR
HK$217,541,000 (31 December 2018: HK$306,733,000 and WML T E%
HK$306,733,000) respectively. (ZZE—N\F :5%) r ME

Al 2T E A
ZERENETAES D
Bl A # In 217,541,000
# gt & 217,541,000 # T
(Z2—N\F+=ZA=+—
H : 306,733,000 & 7T &
306,733,000 7T) °

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 3 during the REBEE-_ZE—NFR-_ZT—)\F
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. +=ZA=+—HLFER F—
RELEE = M 2 A RS o

‘ “E-NEFFR
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. Rt TR
(¢)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c)

(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of

ERTANAVEFEE)

FERETHEELAVEITEZY

financial assets

At 1 January 2018 (restated)

\=%—/\FE—A—H

Unlisted
equity
instruments

F ki
BETR
HK$’000

FET

i

Listed bond
securities
=)
BHRS
HK$°000
THET

Total

#at
HK$’000
FET

(FEE) 8,124 3,053,605 3,061,729
Additions NE - 4,229,234 4,229,234
On disposals or maturity H € 55 FI| HA - (899,249) (899,249)
Fair value loss in OCI REAMEEE A FE
&8 - (322,320 (322,320)
Interest income from listed EMEHFES 2R ERA
bond securities - 236,301 236,301
Interest received from listed B EMESFEFREZ
bond securities B - (162,912) (162,912)
At 31 December 2018 and R-ZE—N\F+=A
1 January 2019 =+—BEkR=ZF—hF
—H—H 8,124 6,134,659 6,142,783
On disposals HE = (2,386,535)  (2,386,535)
Fair value (loss) gain in OCI REMEEKEZ AFE
(B8 Was (1,206) 530,478 529,272
Interest income from listed EHEHES 2L
bond securities A - 417,848 417,848
Interest received from listed B EmEFEHFKE
bond securities F B = (345,624) (345,624)
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+=A
=+—H 6,918 4,350,826 4,357,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. ﬁﬂlﬂ(@)
(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) EBMIENATEIEE)

(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of EZRERMEENTENEZY
financial assets (continued) BR(4&E)
The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities EfemEERERMAGRIAT
are determined in accordance with general accepted pricing ETRBERIRIBSREDNT
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The Directors ZRAREBRAEE - EFR
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets R RSB R BRE S Rl
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate AEXTHAGNEDERAEAR
to their fair values. FEEE °

37. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 37. EXRKk Hi&E

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not B 5T 4B RN 4R 4 B 53R

provided in the consolidated financial EHLBE 2 EAFY
statements for:
— acquisition of properties, —EBEYE - BB M&E
plant and equipment 14,637 30,634
Other expenditure contracted for but not B ET4{B R R EA B 5k
provided in the consolidated financial EH B E 2 Y
statements for:
— acquisition and other expenditures —BRASEEMEWHER
relating to properties held for EF
development 289,826 479,860

304,463 510,494

‘ —E—NFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
38. OPERATING LEASES . REHY
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’'000
FAT
The Group as lessee: AEEEREEA :
Minimum lease payments charged to the consolidated  ERREES B EINR Y
statement of profit or loss during the year AR LT 6,634
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group RERONARARERETHAZE
for certain of its office properties. Operating leases are negotiated for ¥EMZHAS - KEANEEZEKZ
terms ranging from 1 year to 33 years. AN F1233F »
At 31 December 2018, the Group’s future lease payments under non- RZF-N\F+ZA=+—H A&KH
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: R AT 2 BN BRI N2

MR FRER I B AT

2018
—ZE-N\F

HK$’000
TAT

Within one year —FR 918
After one year but not later than five years —FERERAERN 466
After five years AFiE 1,379

2,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
38. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 38. & % *E. :%"J (&)
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
The Group as lessor/licensor: REBEERHBEA BEA
Rental income credited to the consolidated Rt Adra Bk 2
statement of profit or loss during the year ~ FA4 T A 65,845 68,727
Licence fee income credited to the FERFFAFEERRZ
consolidated statement of profit or loss EEFREBIA
during the year 60,000 120,000
125,845 188,727
The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for REB IR EYENIRTBERET 2 FHE
periods up to seven years at fixed predetermined amounts. HeMHTFE=H  HEHREALF -
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: BHEBEENERUFAENTAT -
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FET
Within one year —F R 41,666
In the second year RE_F 36,766
In the third year RE=4F 35,188
In the fourth year REINE 34,530
In the fifth year MERF 32,486
After five years REF%E 819
181,455

‘ —E-NEFEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

38. OPERAT'NG LEASES (continued)

In the prior year, the Group had contracted with tenants under non-
cancellable operating leases and with Licencee under cancellable
licence agreement for the following future minimum lease payments
commitments in respect of leasing of investment properties (see Note
14) and licenced assets (see Note 15) which fall due as follow:

38.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

KEHN =

TF  ARERBEREME(RME
14) REEEREE (RN E15)BER
RIS AT RE QSR S R A
RISV IR AT B A A T AR R R
MHERIEAGH - PATEREIE -

2018
HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —FR 55,681
After one year but not later than five years —FERBEREFERN 157,613
After five years AF% 72,663
285,957

The Group had licenced certain of its assets to a Licencee under the BEREERA R NEEREERE

licence agreement with, inter alia, the following terms: AFEREEFTEENT

o Within the first twelve months of the licence, either the Group
or the Licencee may terminate the licence agreement at its
sole discretion, by serving on the other party not less than
one month prior notice in writing and paying the other party
HK$1,000,000 or such other amount as may be mutually
agreed in writing between both parties.

o After the first twelve months of the licence, the Group may
terminate the licence agreement at its sole discretion, by
serving on the Licencee not less than one month prior notice
in writing.

The licence agreement between the Licensor and the Licencee had
been expired on 1 July 2019 and the Licensor had not entered any
letter of extension and amendments with the Licencee to extend the
licenced period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

@)

The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure
amounting to approximately HK$127,150,000 (2018:
HK$320,824,000) as at 31 December 2019 in respect of
bank mortgage loans granted to purchasers of the Group’s
properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default of the parties involved is remote,
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of
the guarantee contracts and at the end of the reporting period
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured
by the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of the registration of the
relevant mortgaged properties.

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”),
the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF, presented a petition
in the Supreme Court of Bermuda (the "Petition") in respect
of KBCF against its controlling shareholders based on a
complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or were
being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually
successful in defending the case following a favourable
judgment by the Bermuda Court of Appeal dated 24 March
2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner filed an appeal with the
Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn by the Petitioner
following a settlement agreement reached by the Petitioner
and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining
issued and outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF
and KBCF has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

On 1 November 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action
in the Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction
2018: No.359 against the respondents in the Petition based
on purported breach of the settlement agreement (the
"Settlement Action"). Based on the advice of the Company’s
Bermuda Counsel to date, the board is of the opinion that the
Settlement Action appears to be intrinsically defective and that
the Company should have a more than reasonable chance to
succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made
in connection with this claim.

EEHEEBEMRERBRLF

39. HARAEE

@)

R-F-—NF+-A=1t—H"
REERR T AREEMEERDN
RITR\EFRARSARER
#7127,150,0008 T (= — N\
£ :320,824,000/87T) c EER
7 AEEZERBERAON
DNFER IR L T EKX -
BEERRSEETENNKE
B EE - R-E-AFRC
T N\F+-_A=+—H R
REKRILE RREHRERE
A SR EE -

RRDBAREMEERAES
AR TRT - ZSEREN
DIEESINE/E ST kit
YR B RIR A IRTTAERR ©

RZZE——FN\A=H  &HiR
SHIEFEMAY B Annuity & Re Life
Ltd(T2BADRE—BIEEE
SEEE LS IR I ETA
TIEES A BTN 2

RIIGEF - ST ETEEIRAIEARAR R
MERESREZRERZRE
([25]) -

BB ERRERREN -F
—tEEZA-THRERREL
AR T B MEURAMAR B Z
R o 2B ARRAERTR
H LR - EEFARSFBOER
NERAEFHR - 2R ARE
B LR

HE_ZT—NF+=-A=+—H
IEFE - @B ERREE I
EEEIRER AP AER N OB
T REBEITEIINGE B - TEE
FERALTEE—HE2ENBA
aj °

RZZE—N\F+—HF—H" 2
BARBRERZEEHE
2018 : 359 EH Y 2 FMNE
MARBRESSARELR
7 RONE R FNR 1R ([ AR SR
A1) e BEBEADNAARIELRE
BRZSBILNER BFC
RAE - MEFDRUTERE L5
BREE - AR ENRE RTRERSER o B
b AEERERZRRIREE
R -
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ma

40.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group and
are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2018: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of approximately HK$25,177,000
(2018: HK$26,737,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2019, contributions of HK$2,746,000 (2018:
HK$2,858,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of the reporting period.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

40.

RIKEREE

AEE RN —IEIRER S RIRE
1651 5E 2 e BB BT 8 ([ B 3R KT
D RBEREIEA RS ENIR 2T
TE+Z AR zaHIEATE ST E
([aFESETE]) - RSB EERAK
SEEESHEE  WIRERBBL
A2 ES - MR BESHE
ZRIE2NBERKAZIZIEES - R
BARERKE RAEESE 2K
B MAAR-ZTEF+_AziE
MAXE@Z FEB VAL MATESET
Bl o IRIERTESETE - BEREREES
BB E 8 AR A 5% S E H it
P& ARBIKA LR A30,000/8 T
(Z=—)\4F : 30,000/ 7T) °

FEMBARZEEATEBMFEEZ
BRERNTEKE - ZEHERA]
ARFEXHZ K AN L RARKE
g U BEREREN - AEBE R
EEITZE—BERINABHEN -

MRS BB RERE
BhIRIRET 8I3 1F 2 #3049 525,177,000
HEIL(—T— )\ : 26,737,000/ 7T )
DEBRETPHR R hE+=
B=+—8B  Rp&EHREE 82 H3%
2,746,000/ 7T ( —Z— )\ £ : 2,858,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

M. BMETHELEZEEZ
iR

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

TRFIAEERETDEL 2 BER
B SRASMFERSEE -  BEED
EEZABERERECH » FORKHA
EREFNARENGARERERD
BERRERDMERSRENAR -

activities.
Lease Interest
liabilities Borrowings payable Total
HEaE B BRI #et
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHE T THERT FET THET
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—/\F—H—H - 3,402,110 952 3,403,062
Financing cash flows BEREME - 2,440,390 (117,893) 2,322,497
Interest expense recognised  R4RA 1B RFER LY
in the consolidated FMEFEZ
statement of profit or loss - - 103,221 103,221
Interest expense capitalised &7k F| 55 - - 13,720 13,720
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—/\F+=A
=+—H - 5,842,500 - 5,842,500
Effect of adoption of new FRNFTER BB SRR
standard by HKFRS 16 A6 E 1,635 - - 1,635
At 1 January 2019 (restated) W—Z—h&E—H—H
(i) 1,635 5,842,500 - 5,844,135
Financing cash flows BERERE (525) (2,897,236) (145,581)  (3,043,342)
New leases entered MEIfE 365 - - 365
Interest expense recognised  R4FAIBFRE
in the consolidated RHFEFAE
statement of profit or loss - - 131,947 131,947
Interest expense capitalised &7k F| S5 - - 16,280 16,280
Exchange adjustments P& A% (25) - - (25)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—NF+=A
=+—A 1,450 2,945,264 2,646 2,949,360
—E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. BB ERS
The Group entered into the following significant transactions with AREEEBPBAEFRNETZIEARLS
related parties during the year: W
2019 2018
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAxT
() Sales of goods and driling services () MRARMBARHEEERR
provided to fellow subsidiaries TR FLARTS 2,223,204 2,065,525
(i) Purchases of goods from iy MRRKEARREER
fellow subsidiaries 601,178 725,796
(i) Sales of laminates and copper to a (iii) )T ER AR SRR A A
shareholder with significant influence BESRZENHKER
over the ultimate holding company £ & 78 R E ik A2 SR 495,127 702,935

(iv) Purchases of drill bits and machineries  (iv) [A1¥ &AL A 7

from a shareholder with significant AESKFENBRE
influence over the ultimate holding FREGHENE M i 22
company 311,581 366,706
The transactions above constituted continuing connected transactions BIE EMRAIE14AE - LT HEX
of the Company under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. RARKFEBER S o
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASME
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key FRN G BERAMETEERAE S
management during the year is as follows: U
2019 2018
—E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Short-term employee benefits HEEA 92,178 94,278
Post-employment benefits RIKEEF 901 870
Share-based payments AR 9 2 AT R 64,901 -
157,980 95,148
The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined EENTETHAEBZHEe2EZEER
with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends. BIXRBNTISHBREET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE I IRARMEE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

43.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019

and 2018 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

Excel First Investments Limited

EAREARAT

KBCF
BEEIE

Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited
BEEWEERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated
Material Company Limited

BE(HR) RS HERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates
Co. Limited
BE(BR)BEERERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Paper
Laminates Co. Ltd.
BB BEERERAR

Kingboard Electronic Raw
Material (Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd.
REETHROTRARAT

Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates
Co., Ltd.
IPRERRBRAERAF

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

R,
BRREE R

British Virgin Islands*
RERUHS

Bermuda#
BE#

British Virgin Islands
RBRUKHS

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

Issued and fully paid
share capital/
registered capital
ERTRAR

BA/ ERER

US$1
1%

US$72,250,000
72,250,000 7T

US$47,057,290
47,057,290 7T

RMB61,019,000
61,019,000 A £

US$29,466,000
29,466,000% 7T

US$17,936,546
17,936,546% 7T

US$30,000,000
30,000,000 7T

HK$242,800,000
242,800,000/ 7T

EEHEERERABRLF

RZE-NFR-_ZE-NF+_-A
=t+—H ARFXIEMBRARZFHIE

L
Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Group
KEBFSE
BERERLA
2019 2018
“E-hE —T)\E
% %
100 100
100 87.90
100 87.90
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Principal activities

TRER

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding and
licencing of its properties

REERRENZEZ
RiERER

Manufacture and
distribution of bleached
kraft paper

BER A HEARER

Manufacture and
distribution of laminates

HELD HEWER

Manufacture and
distribution of laminates

HELD HEWER

Manufacture and
distribution of laminates

SUER D HEINAER
Manufacture and

distribution of laminates

HEL D HEWER

“E-NEFFR
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ARE I IRARMEE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEAR AR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

AR,
BRREE

Issued and fully paid
share capital/
registered capital
ERTRARE

R,/ E

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC! US$32,000,000
Co., Ltd. HE 32,000,000% 7T
BEOIHNLTBRAF
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC US$32,010,000
Co., Ltd R 32,010,000% 7T
BEBEER(RIL)ERAR
Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre Glass ~ PRC' US$13,700,000
Co. Limited D 13,700,000% 7T
BEEN)BBEEERAT
Kingboard (Guangzhou) High New ~ PRC! RMB250,000,000
Material Company Limited A 250,000,000 A R &
BE (BN e B BRAR
(Formerly known as Kingboard
(Panyu Nansha) Petrochemical
Company Limited
(Al 2 E(ERmY )AL
BERAD)
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal

place of operations.

! These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Wholly
Foreign-owned Enterprises. The English names of these companies are for

identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year.
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43. AREEEMB LA Z

Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Group Principal activities
AEEFfIFE
EERERLA TEXHK
2019 2018
“EB-hE —E)N\F
% %
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
HWERHHECIER
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
HERS EERER
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of glass fabric
HERS EBRAISR
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
HERHHECIER
# I FER AR EER AT - WEREE
T -

! SRR EBECE A ETE
BRIL o ZE R RIMEX R BEHEER] -

ERFIIRESRATIEFEAKEE
BHNEEZARBIMNBAR - EFERR
S EMH B AR ZFHFEBNILE

EWBARRFREREZITEMNER
5—?3—‘;’ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME
43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. KRB EEH BT Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY FH1E
(continued)
(@ General information of subsidiaries (a KMEBEARAZ—KRER
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RIS HMERE - NARHE
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of HAREEW A EBRNEAMMER
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities Al o ZEMBRABARIBHRF
of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows: B ZEWBRAR 2 EEEK

BEaan R

Principal place
Principal activities of business Number of subsidiaries

WA RYE
2019 2018
—B-hE —T)\F

Manufacture and sale of RLERIHE PRC F 28 22
laminates EiNER Thailand Z=H 1 1
Macau SBPY 2 2

31 25

Properties E Hong Kong a8 2 2
PRC =8 9 9

United Kingdom £ ] 1 1

12 12

Others EAh Hong Kong BB 37 37
PRC =a 6 6

43 43

‘ —E-NEFEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. KRB EEH BT Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY S48 )
(continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) HEEERFEEREZZIKE
have material non-controlling interests 2EMEARFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TRE|HEEERIFERER L
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling AEEF2EMBE R RS
interests:

Proportion of
ownership
Place of interests and
incorporation voting rights Profit
and principal held by allocated to Accumulated
place of A HE R non- controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary B A AIBHE business FREEIE interests interests interests

AEEIER
&}E <AL REZEN  REEERER
2018 2018
—TN\F T\ —FN\F
HK$'000
TAT

KBCF(@ RIEGE Bermuder R 12.10% 3,086 296,860
Individually immaterial 75 JEER
subsidiaries with non- #3252 B,

controling interests ~ JFEAMEAT 46,570
343,430
# This is an investment holding company which has no specific # NGCIDEE &= 20 /N1 K
principal place of operation. BRTEZEEMI -
U] excluding non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary l TRERERENBARZ
FEPERR IR
@ KBCF has become a wholly owned subsidiary during the year @ BENENEBE T —LEF
ended 31 December 2019. +ZA=t+—BLEEDK

R—AZAEMNBAR
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FEMBmRMETE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. AT EEHRB AT Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY FEw@
(continued)

b) HEEEARFEREZRZHF
ZEMBATAFE )
EEEE R B

(o) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KBCF and subsidiaries

2018
—ZT—-N\F
HK$’'000
FET
Current assets REEE 2,561,238
Non-current assets IEMBNEE 321,836
Current liabilities mEaE 106,506
Non-current liabilities JERB ARG 4,521
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAEIFEH AELERE 2,450,622
Non-controlling interests of KBCF RS IEE AR 296,860
Non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary & $ASEM B A 72 ek i 24,565
Revenue e 586,979
Expenses, other gains and losses Fiz - Hithles RIE1E 559,547
Profit for the year AN F 27,432
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RATEE AEGSF 22,5624
Profit attributable to non-controlling EH IR E eI At A
interests of KBCF FE(R R 3,086
Profit attributable to the non-controlling S IFSEMTE A B FEIE R
interests of KBCF’s subsidiary FE(R R 1,822
Profit for the year REZ @A 27,432
“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRENBHRME

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. ARFEEMBLATZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY F185 0
(continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) BEEEARFEZEREZZH

2EMBLAFR G
BEEE R AR ()

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KBCF and subsidiaries (continued)

2018
—FN\F
HK$'000
T
Other comprehensive expense attributable AARIEHE AEMN
to owners of the Company Hiv =AY (67,844)
Other comprehensive expense attributable IR A JR AR RS R
to non-controlling interests of KBCF Hib2mAX (7,925)
Other comprehensive expense attributable EEHINAM B A B IR A s A
to the non-controlling interests of Hib2mAX
KBCF’s subsidiary (1,199)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEFEMEmMFAY (66,968)
Total comprehensive expense attributable KAFEE AL
to owners of the Company FHEMY 2T (35,320)
Total comprehensive expense attributable VE S SR AR A A
to non-controlling interests of KBCF FHEMLEE (4,839
Total comprehensive income attributable SE RSB N B R AR S PR
to the non-controlling interests of S ENEBTE
KBCF’s subsidiary 623
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEEEF AR (39,536)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of B EERENBE AT 2
KBCF’s subsidiary SEERRIE IR AR B (3,356)
Net cash inflow from operating activities e TRENIR & A SRR 122,827
Net cash outflow from investing activities AR R FRE (18,482)
Net cash outflow from financing activities REEEENIR & SRR (3,356)
Net cash inflow BREmAFEE 100,989
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets

FRBEE

44,

EEHEERERABRLF

2
#
2019

—E-NF

HK$’000
FET

gﬁ%%%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ

2018
—EFN\F
HK$'000
FHTT

Equity instruments at FVTPL RATVEAABROERTA 71,149 65,299
Investment in a subsidiary R B AR ZEE 5,711,740 5,711,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B BB A R FIR 306,742 671,543
6,089,631 6,448,582
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHI B A RIFRIE 16,102,534 19,000,193
Equity instruments at FVTPL RAHE AR RN ER A 1,614 -
Other receivables and prepayments H b FEUR AR X N TE A FE 27,408 39,152
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 198,678 164,086
16,330,234 19,203,431
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables H e BR R 85,925 64,824
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEHT B A RFIA 10,867,191 10,210,468
Bank borrowings RITEE—
—amount due within one year —FNEIE 2 FRIE 923,077 1,023,077
11,876,193 11,298,369
Net current assets mEVEEFE 4,454,041 7,905,062
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABRLBAER 10,543,672 14,353,644
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITIEE —
— amount due after one year —F £ B8 2 58 1,653,846 4,776,923
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIHT B A RFIE 954,646 923,624
2,608,492 5,700,447
Net assets BEFAE 7,935,180 8,653,197
“E-NFFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABRmRMEE
44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  44. KA QA T EHRR R G145
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY S

(continued)

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT BT

Capital and reserves A& A 2 GE
Share capital R 308,100 308,100
Reserves (Note) i (HIE) 7,627,080 8,345,097
Total equity B4R 7,935,180 8,653,197
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE I IRARMEE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  44. GR35 & R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

i)

n
= om)

Note: i
Share-
based
Share payments Special Retained
premium reserve reserve profits
LARR {7
&% 5 AR FERlE IRE A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FHT FAIT
(Note a)
(FffzEa)
At 1 January 2018 RZZ—\F—A—H 1,711,849 - 5,427,130 1,699,953 8,838,932
Profit for the year and total REFSMENEERE
comprehensive income for the year — Ux 54858 - - - 1,665,946 1,665,946
Final dividend paid for the year BENEE-T—tF
ended 31 December 2017 +ZA=+—HIEFE
ZAREARR S - - - (1,620,606) (1,620,606)
Interim dividend paid for the year ENBE-_Z—N\F
ended 31 December 2018 +ZA=+—HIEFE
ZFHRRE - - - (539,175) (539,175)
- - - (2,159,781) (2,159,781)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+=A
=+—H 1,711,849 - 5,427,130 1,206,118 8,345,097
Profit for the year and total ANF i R A E 2R
comprehensive income for the year T AREE - - - 571,824 571,824
Recognition of equity-settled R AR EE IR
share-based payments R - 96,609 - - 96,609
Final dividend paid for the year BENEEZZ—N\F
ended 31 December 2018 TZA=+—HLEFE
ZAREARRE - - - (1,078,350)  (1,078,350)
Interim dividend paid for the year BENEEZZ—NF
ended 31 December 2019 TZA=+—HLEFE
ZHREARRE - - - (308,100) (308,100)
- 96,609 - (1,386,450) (1,289,841)
At 31 December 2019 RZZT-NAF+=A
=+—H 1,711,849 96,609 5,427,130 391,492 7,627,080
Note a:  Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the Mzt :  ARRZERIFERERBEHREARZ

net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s

reorganisation in 2006.

BEFEER-_STRFETEEEA
K RKEMETZARBRNEERE
ZHERZERE ©

“E-NEFFR
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for

investment:

Location

1B

88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and
7 Garlisle Avenue and Part of
Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 48T, United Kingdom

Building 14, Kingboard Yueking Garden,
Kunshan Development District, Kunshan,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

(PENIFEEILTRER
EEHREN452)

No. 130 Lingang Xinchengpu Road,
No. 220 Lingang Xinchengjin Road,
Shops of Jiangyin Kingboard Garden Phase |
at No. 225 Lingang Xincheng Zhujiang Road,
Jiangyin, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
(hEDIEE LM EHURE -
1305 - BR/B3TIM & #2205 -
B R IRL B8 2265 -
LR ERTE R —HIE)

Unit Nos.2301-2303, 26F, 27F, and Car
Parking Space No. 9, 10 on 2nd Floor,
Overseas Trust Bank Building,

No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

(EBELITEI60%
BIMEFERITAE
2301-2303% - 261& - 2712 ]k
2B FEIR 10578 11)

Gross floor
area (m?)
RIBEEE
(FFK)

Existing use

R AZE

Commercial Freehold 8,000
[EiES KAERE
Commercial Medium term lease 13,000
[EiES FHEAT EA
Commercial Medium term lease 11,000
[EiES HEAT ER
Commercial Medium term lease 1,800
[EiES HEATR ER

AEEEZHEREMEIINTE

Group’s interest

AEEFAER

2019
—E-NF
%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2018
—T-)N\&F
%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
SEYMEER

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for REETEFREWEINTER :
development:

Approximate

percentage

of completion Year of

as at the date expected Gross floor Group’s interest

of thisreport  completion area (m? rEERERES

EERRE
Location Existing use AL fast WEEEE 2019 2018
bk BRAR BRE®T TIEE (FHK) Z=B-NFE —T)\F

% %
Huagiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Residential 82% 2020 180,000 100% 100%
Guixi Road, Huagjao District, T=

Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
(PEULEE BIL T ERRR MK
TERRERIEE R )

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * B 2 E O R RE R B A ©
purposes only

‘ “E-NEFFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B E
RESULTS ¥EiE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=1t—HILEFE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-R1F ERF E—+F E-N\F =B-hF

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T THETT THETT THET
(RES EIE)) (RES EIEN)) (RESEWES)] (RESEWE))
(FesEit) (s &=t) (ge=it) (ge&it)

Revenue | 12,954,627 15,576,069 18,337,952 20,645,776 18,383,952
Profit before taxation MR LR A 1,540,465 4,902,670 4,642,579 4,475,835 3,317,220
Income tax expense FrS TR (269,465) (550,762) (870,328)  (1,217,844) (908,490)
Profit for the year INEFE T 1,271,000 4,351,908 3,772,251 3,257,991 2,408,730
Attributable to: R EE
Owners of the Company  ZARAFHA A 1,265,403 4,346,561 3,764,540 3,250,381 2,402,247
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F1ZfR 25 5,597 5,347 7,711 7,610 6,483

1,271,000 4,351,908 3,772,251 3,257,991 2,408,730

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

At 31 December
R+=—A=+-—8
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

—T-hHF ZE—RF ZT—+tF —T—)N\F ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FHBT FAIT FAET FHT
Total assets BEMSE 23,030,997 25,664,205 28,551,223 28,721,741 25,803,171
Total liabilities BEEsE (8,877,836) (10,317,073) (10,564,289) (10,878,739)  (7,054,092)
Net assets BEFE 14,153,161 15,347,132 17,986,934 17,843,002 18,749,079
Equity attributable to ViN/NEIE= =N
owners of the Company ~ FE(Hga% 13,167,408 14,407,373 17,469,959 17,499,572 18,701,422
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R A 985,753 939,759 516,975 343,430 47,657
Total equity BIRGEEE 14,153,161 15,347,132 17,986,934 17,843,002 18,749,079
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
EEFASPHAMRBH=REERE=T=1#

Tel &7 : (852) 2605 6493 Fax {85 : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE} : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #8311t : http://www.kblaminates.com
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